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EMPLOYEES' PATIENTS DIALYSIS CENTERS Fresenius Medical Care is the world's leading provider of products and
services for individuals with kidney diseases, of whom around 3.8 mil-
lion worldwide depend on dialysis treatment. Thanks to our decades of
experience in dialysis, our innovative research, and our value-based
care approach, we help our patients enjoy the very best quality of life.

2021

122,909

SELECTED KEY FIGURES

2020 2020 2020 2021 2020 Change
Revenue in € BN 17.62 17.86 2% cc
125,364 346,553 41092 Net income?in € BN 097 116 (14 %) cc
Net income? excl. special items3in € BN 1.02 1.36 (23 %) cc
Operating income in € BN 1.85 2.30 (7 %) cc
Operating income excl. special items?in € BN 1.92 2.50 (21 %) cc
Basic earnings per share in € 3.31 396 (14 %) cc
Basic earnings per share excl. special items®in € 3.48 4.62 (23 %) cc
Net cash provided by (used in)
REVENUE NET INCOME 2 DIVIDEND PER SHARE?® operating activities in € BN 2.49 4.23 70 %
R i & E1Y wE Free cash flow* in € BN 1.66 3.20 (48 %)
Capital expenditures, net in € BN (0.83) (1.04) (25 %)
Acquisitions and investments
excl. investments in debt securities in € BN (0.43) (0.26) 68 %
Operating income margin excl. special items3in % 10.9 14.0
Return on invested capital (ROIC)® in % 49 5.8
Net leverage ratio® 33 27
Equity ratio (equity/total assets)” in % 407 389
cc = at constant currency
' Full-time equivalents.
2 Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.
2020 2020 2020 3 2021: costs related to the FME25 program; 2020: impairment of goodwill and trade names in the Latin America Segment.

17 1 1 1 4 4 Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities, after capital expenditures, before acquisitions, investments, and dividends.
.86 ° 6 .3 5 See calculation in the Group Management Report, chapter “Overview of the Group”, section “Performance management
system” starting on PAGE 24.
¢ See calculation in the Group Management Report, chapter “Economic Report”, section “Results of operations,
financial position, and net assets - Financial position - Financing strategy” starting on PAGE 52.
7 As of December 31 of the respective year.
8 Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022.
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TOGETHER
AHEAD.

Our patients are our reason for being. Since Fresenius
Medical Care was founded in 1996, our aim has been to
improve our patients’ quality of life by offering them
high-quality products as well as innovative technologies
and therapies. The aim of our Strategy 2025 is to make
this vision reality and to continue being the care partner
of choice for our patients in the future. 2021 and the

tk COVID-19 pandemic reminded us once again of the
vulnerable patient population we serve. The 2021 Annual

Report puts our worldwide commitment into facts and
figures. In our Corporate Magazine 2021 we show through

various articles how our vision becomes reality.

FIND OUT MORE
IN OUR CORPORATE MAGAZINE:

www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/magazine


https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/magazine
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INTERVIEW WITH
RICE POWELL

In an interview with Rice Powell, CEO and Chairman
of the Management Board, he talks about fiscal year 2021,
his plans for 2022, and the strategic outlook for the Company.

Mr. Powell, how would you describe fiscal year 2021?

POWELL: Last year, we celebrated Fresenius Medical Care’s 25th anniversary. The
Company was founded with the aim of continuously improving patients’ quality of
life by offering high-quality products as well as innovative technologies and treatment
concepts. Vertical integration is the secret of our success and has helped us to become
the market leader. We intend to continue leading the market in the future. In 2021,

we launched the FME25 program to support our strategy 2025 and to further
improve our profitability. This program focuses on transforming our operating

model and aligning it with our key value drivers: our products and services.

However, 2021 was one of the most challenging years in our history. The COVID-19
pandemic had a major impact on each of us and placed considerable demands on our
Company. The same is true for healthcare systems and companies around the world.

How does the COVID-19 pandemic impact people with kidney disease?

POWELL: People with advanced kidney disease are among the most vulnerable patient
groups. Dialysis patients are older than 65 on average, and often have comorbidities and
a weakened immune system. The emergence of the Delta variant last year additionally
led to a disproportionally high number of deaths among our dialysis patients. While

the Omicron variant resulted in a significant rise in infection rates in many countries,
Omicron proved more virulent but less deadly. “Excess mortality” is a statistical term.
We well understand that we are dealing with the loss of individual lives. I would like

to express my deepest sympathy to the families of those affected at this difficult time.
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RICE POWELL

Chief Executive Officer and Chairman
of the Management Board
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How did you try to protect our patients?

POWELL: We implemented extensive measures at our more than 4,000 dialysis cen-
ters around the world, to avoid infections among our patients. This included providing
personal protective equipment and setting up isolation centers. We also made it our
priority to ensure that our patients and their caregivers were vaccinated as soon as
possible. In Portugal, the U.S., and several other countries, we were able to offer
COVID-19 vaccines to patients and employees directly at our dialysis centers, thus
making an important contribution to the speeding up of the uptake of vaccination
globally. As of the end of 2021, about 81 percent of our patients around the world

had received thier vaccination.

Dialysis treatment can be administered at a dialysis center or at home.
In particular in home dialysis, you have always seen growth potential.
Could you please elaborate on that?

POWELL: Yes, that is correct. For many patients it is easier to integrate the home
treatment into their daily routine. In these cases, home dialysis is the ideal solution
as it offers greater flexibility.

In the fourth quarter of 2021, we provided more than 15 percent of dialysis treatments
at home in the U.S,, thereby achieving the 15 percent target we originally set for our-
selves for 2022. To underline the importance of home dialysis as a strategic growth
area, Fresenius Medical Care has set itself an aspirational target: We intend to carry
out 25 percent of all treatments in the U.S. in patients’ homes by 2025.

Did you achieve your targets for
2021 despite the challenges? b b

POWELL: The COVID-19 pandemic

changed our business environment in We intend to car ry

the past year. The global spread of the

different coronavirus variants led to a o Ut 2 5 pe rce nt Of
higher excess mortality than initially all treatments in the
expected. This was compounded by u.sS i np at i ents’

inflation-related cost increases and

high labor costs, particularly in the U.S. homes by 202 5.“
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The result was a significant decline in earnings. However, despite the very difficult
circumstances last year, we achieved revenue and net income targets, albeit at the
lower end of our target range: Revenue at constant currency increased by two percent,
while net income at constant currency and excluding special items declined by

23 percent compared with 2020.

Will shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care receive a dividend
for fiscal year 2021 despite the difficult conditions?

POWELL: In line with the Company’s commitment to increase shareholder returns
and strive for dividend continuity, Fresenius Medical Care will propose a dividend
of 1.35 euros per share to the Annual General Meeting in May 2022. This would

be the 25th consecutive dividend increase. We firmly believe that the fundamental
drivers of our business and growth remain unchanged, despite the unprecedented
but temporary effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

You mentioned the FME25 transformation program earlier.
What does it involve?

POWELL: The FME25 transformation program launched in early 2021 will help
us become more agile, efficient, and competitive, and create further sustainable
and profitable growth. In short, FME25 will make Fresenius Medical Care fit for
the future.

In November 2021, we announced as part of our FME25 program that we would
transform our operating model with a significantly simplified structure. We expect
to complete the roll-out of the new operating model around 2023, and most of the
cost saving measures implemented by 2024. Thanks to the new operating model,
we assume to reduce our annual cost base by 500 million euros by the end of 2025.
One-time investments in FME25 are expected to amount to approximately 450 to
500 million euros.

How does this new global operating model look like?
POWELL: We are orienting our future operating model to our key value drivers. That

means there will be just two global segments in the future: Care Delivery, which is
our services business, and Care Enablement, our medical technology business.
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We have also adapted the composition b b
of the Management Board to the new
operating model. As of January 1, 2022,
Bill Valle has taken on the role of being
Head of the Care Delivery segment,
Dr. Katarzyna Mazur-Hofsif} has

We have laid the
foundation for the
future success of
Fresenius Medical
Care with FME25.™

assumed responsibility for Care
Enablement. Frank Maddux, MD,
remains Head of the Global Medical
Office. Helen Giza continues as CFO
and has additionally taken on the
role of Chief Transformation Officer.
I myself will continue to be CEO and
Chairman of the Management Board.
This new organization represents a
considerable change, but T am confi-
dent that we have laid the foundation
for the future success of Fresenius
Medical Care with FME25.

Fresenius Medical Care recently set itself climate targets.
How are they defined?

POWELL: We are aiming to halve our direct and indirect CO, emissions by 2030

and become fully carbon-neutral by 2040. These targets are undoubtedly stringent,
but they demonstrate that we do not simply talk about Sustainability — we take action.
Operating globally implies global responsibility, not only for protecting the climate.
We are aware of this responsibility and have made Sustainability a key element of our
strategy. We have continuously expanded our Sustainability measures in recent years.
In 2021 alone, we defined 17 new global policies and other standards in areas such as
environment, human and labor rights as well as working conditions. We defined new
global key performance indicators that allow us to measure for example, how satisfied
our patients around the world are with our services. I am delighted that we have been
able to make considerable progress in this area in 2021, despite the difficult circum-
stances during the pandemic.

08

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021

Where do you see growth potential beyond 2022?

POWELL: Looking to the future, it is clear that digitalization will play a key role in
opening up new possibilities in kidney therapy, especially in the field of telemedicine
and home dialysis. Regenerative medicine also offers numerous opportunities,
particularly in areas such as cell therapies, tissue engineering, and transplants. We
have set up the world’s largest database for clinical data relating to advanced kidney
disease. This is supplemented by the world’s largest genomic registry for kidney
diseases with the purpose of better understanding kidney disease and developing
innovative treatments.

In addition, we intend to build partnerships with payors to support the transition
from a fee-for-service payment system to an outcome-based payment model. Known
as value-based care models, these allow us to create medical added value while ensur-
ing affordable care. Thanks to our many years of experience in providing value-based
care and applying proprietary predictive analytics models, we are able to slow down
the progression of kidney disease and reduce hospital admissions. We anticipate

that the number of our patients with chronic kidney disease and end-stage kidney
disease receiving care as part of value-based care models will increase from more
than 20,000 at the end of 2021 to around 80,000 in 2022. Furthermore, we expect to
manage more than six billion U.S. dollars in medical costs in value-based care in 2022.

What is your revenue forecast for the coming years?

POWELL: We expect to grow in the low to mid-single-digit percentage range at
constant currency before special items for revenue and net income in 2022.
Based on current forecasts, we

confirmed our targets for 2025. As

part of our Strategy 2025, we target

to achieve a compounded annual b b
average mid-single-digit growth
rate for revenue and a high-single- .
We do not simply
talk about

Sustainability -
we take action.™

digit growth rate for net income
until 2025. We expect FME25 to
mitigate the ongoing negative
impact of COVID-19.
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“Together Ahead" was the motto of Fresenius Medical Care's
25th anniversary celebrations in 2021. What does that mean to you?

POWELL: Thanks to a constant improvement in treatment options, today patients
with chronic kidney disease enjoy a higher quality of life and have a longer life
expectancy. Fresenius Medical Care has been part of this development from the
very beginning.

Since the Company was formed 25 years ago, we have provided our patients
with high-quality products as well as innovative technologies and therapies. b b
By leveraging and further developing these core competencies, we intend to

go one step ﬁ{rther and reach the next level with our ‘Strate?gy 2025, to ensure We owe our pos it i on
that we remain the preferred care partner for our patients in the future. We
owe our position as technology and market leader to the innovative minds and as technolo q Yy an d
high standards of our more th.an 129,000 emplo.yee.s. They <.io the.ir very. best market leader to the
every day for our 345,000 patients in good and in difficult times, including the . . . .
pandemic, natural disasters, and different types of challenges around the world. innovative minds and hi q h
Iam deelply impressed and immensely grateful for the personal dedication of standards of our more
our employees.

than 120,000 employees.
Mr. Powell, thank you for the interview. They do their very best

every day for our
345,000 patients.™
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MANAGEMENT
BOARD'

Rice Powell Helen Giza Franklin W. Maddux, MD Dr. Katarzyna Mazur-Hofsap
CEO and Chairman Finance Global Medical Office Europe, Middle East and Africa
(since January 2013) (since November 2019) (since January 2020) (since September 2018)

> _
Dr. Olaf Schermeier William Valle Kent Wanzek Harry de Wit
Global Research and Development North America Global Manufacturing, Quality and Supply Asia-Pacific
(from March 2013 until December 2021) (since February 2017) (from January 2010 until December 2021) (from April 2016 until December 2021)

T As announced on November 2, 2021, we are launching a new global operating model in 2023. The changes in the structure will result in changed responsibilities, starting at Management Board level,
effective as of January 1, 2022. More information can be found here: https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/about-us/management-board/.


https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/about-us/management-board/
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CAPITAL MARKETS
AND SHARES

Fresenius Medical Care’s business performance
in 2021 was materially affected by the ongoing
COVID-19 pandemic. This was clearly reflected
in the price development of Fresenius Medical
Care shares.

PRICE DEVELOPMENT OF
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
SHARES

After a significant rise in COVID-19-related excess mortality
among patients of Fresenius Medical Care already in fiscal year
2020, cases accumulated to more than 9.800 patients in the
2021 reporting year. On February 1, 2021, Fresenius Medical
Care informed the capital markets about the significant nega-
tive impact of COVID-19 on organic growth, profitability, clinic
utilization and adjacent business areas based on initial esti-
mates. The share price dropped in response to this news.

Besides the impact of COVID-19-related excess mortality among
dialysis patients, Fresenius Medical Care's full-year earnings
performance was also affected by additional COVID-19-related
costs, including expenditure on personal protective equipment
and increased personnel expenses in the Dialysis Services busi-
ness. In fiscal year 2020, these costs were largely covered by
public relief funding, particularly under the U.S. Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (CARES Act). In 2021,
however, Fresenius Medical Care did not receive relief funding
in the same order of magnitude. Positive earnings effects from
a higher share of patients with Medicare Advantage insurance,
the suspension of Medicare sequestration and a slight increase

1

in the dialysis reimbursement paid in the U.S. government
insurance program, were by far not sufficient to offset the pro-
nounced impact of the pandemic.

At the time of publishing its forecast for fiscal year 2021,
Fresenius Medical Care expected the COVID-19-related excess
mortality among its patients to continue to accumulate in the
first half of the year under review before normalizing in the
second half. Thanks to global vaccination campaigns and the
downturn in infection levels, the Company reported a signifi-
cant drop in excess mortality in the second quarter. After
declining at the start of the year, Fresenius Medical Care shares
gradually recovered from early March onward, reaching a high
for the year of €70.96 in July.

Contrary to the Company's original expectations, excess mor-
tality among patients of Fresenius Medical Care rose again in
the second half of the year, in particular due to the global
spread of the Delta variant of the coronavirus. As a result,
Fresenius Medical Care's revenue and net income as at Decem-
ber 31, 2021, were at the lower end of the forecast ranges pub-
lished in early 2021. Even the positive newsflow toward the end

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021

of 2021 failed to change the trend in the share price develop-
ment: In October, the U.S. government announced a stronger
increase in dialysis reimbursement for 2022 than had been
expected. In early November, Fresenius Medical Care published
its plans for the transformation of its operating model as part
of the FME25 program, which the Company anticipates to
reduce its annual cost base by E500 M by 2025.

Fresenius Medical Care shares closed the year at €5714, a
decrease of 16 % in 2021. Further information on the share
price and index performance can be found in TABLES 1.1 AND 1.9
ON PAGE 16 AS WELL AS CHARTS 1.2, 1.3 AND 1.4 STARTING ON
PAGE 12.

In spite of the COVID-19 impact as described above, a long-term
view highlights the strength and stability of Fresenius Medical
Care shares: Since 1996 - the year of the Company'’s IPO - the
share price has risen by more than 150 %. With reinvested div-
idends, this corresponds to an appreciation of around 5 % per
annum. Fresenius Medical Care's market capitalization (the
number of shares outstanding multiplied by the current share
price) amounted to €16.7 BN at the end of 2021.

711 STOCK INDICES/SHARES

Country/region Dec. 31, 2021 Dec. 31, 2020 Change High Low
Dow Jones Industrial Average USA 36,338 30,606 19% 36,489 29983
DAX DE 15,885 13,719 16 % 16,251 13,433
STOXX Europe 600 Health Care EUR 1,082 879 23% 1,084 843
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
SHARES IN € DE 5714 68.20 (16 %) 70.96 52.78
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
ADRSIN $ USA 32.46 41.56 (22 %) 43.32 29.82

Source: Bloomberg data, own calculations
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c12 SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE, ABSOLUTE, JANUARY 1, 2021-DECEMBER 31, 2021
IN €

year high

year low

== Fresenius Medical Care share
Source: Bloomberg data

c1.3 INDEX AND SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE
INDEXED, JANUARY 1, 2021 - DECEMBER 31, 2021 (DECEMBER 31, 2020 =100), IN %

== fresenius Medical Care shares (€) Fresenius Medical Care-ADRs (US$) Dow Jones Industrial Average DAX STOXX Europe 600 Health Care
Source: Bloomberg data, own calculations
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PRICE DEVELOPMENT
OF AMERICAN
DEPOSITARY RECEIPTS

In 2021, the price of the Fresenius Medical Care shares listed on
the New York Stock Exchange in the form of American Deposi-
tary Receipts (ADRs) fell by around 22 %. The price movement
of ADRs is tied to that of Fresenius Medical Care shares, taking
into account the development of the euro/U.S. dollar exchange
rate. Two ADRs correspond to one share. Based on the number
of traded shares (or ARDs, respectively), ADRs accounted for
around 36 % of the entire trading volume for 2021. This rep-
resents an increase of 12 percentage points compared to 2020.
All'in all, the number of ADRs in circulation was up by 91 % in
2021, due to the share price development in fiscal year 2021 as
well as increasing interest from U.S. investors.
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c1.4 INDEX AND SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE IN A 25-YEAR COMPARISON
WITH DIVIDENDS REINVESTED, INDEXED, JANUARY 1, 1997 - DECEMBER 31, 2021 (DECEMBER 31, 1996 = 100), IN %

I N,

== Fresenius Medical Care shares (€) Fresenius Medical Care-ADRs (USS) Dow Jones Industrial Average DAX STOXX Europe 600 Health Care
Source: Bloomberg data, own calculations

c1.5 DEVELOPMENT OF THE DIVIDEND
IN €

' Proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022.
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DIVIDEND

At the virtual Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022, the
General Partner and the Supervisory Board will propose a divi-
dend to shareholders of €1.35 per share. This would equate to
an increase of 1% compared with the previous year, and an
annual growth of around 9 % since 1997 (SEE CHART 1.5). With
293.0 M shares entitled to receive dividends (as at Decem-
ber 31, 2021), the total dividend payout would amount to
€396 M; the payout ratio in relation to net income for 2021
would come to around 41 %. The substantial rise in the payout
ratio compared with the previous year (2020: around 34 %) is
due to the lower level of net income in particular. Based on the
proposed dividend and the closing share price for 2021, the div-
idend yield on the shares would be 2.4 % (2020: 2.0 %).

Fresenius Medical Care remains committed to creating share-
holder return and continues to strive for dividend continuity.

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

In our analysis of the shareholder structure as at December 31,
2021, around 96 % of the approximately 293.0 M outstanding
Fresenius Medical Care shares were matched with their owners
(SEE TABLE 1.6 ON PAGE 14). Accordingly, the largest shareholder,
Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA, continues to hold around 94.4 M
shares, corresponding to an equity holding of 32 %. In addition,
we identified 13 institutional investors each with at least 1 % of
the capital stock.

According to the most recent analysis, 653 institutional inves-
tors own Fresenius Medical Care shares. The largest 20 institu-
tional investors account for approximately 57 % of the identi-
fied free float, i.e., the identified shares excluding shares held
by Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA (previous year: 51 %).
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As at December 31, 2021, 58 % of the institutional free float
was held by investors from North America. The U.K. accounted
for 13 %. The Company was able to identify 7 % of the institu-
tional free float in Germany, 5 % in France and a further 4 % in
Canada (SEE TABLE 1.7).

T1.6 NUMBER OF IDENTIFIED SHARES AS PER
SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE ANALYSIS
FIGURES ROUNDED IN M

Number in %
of shares in % of free float
Number of shares outstanding
as at December 31, 2021 293.0 100 -
Identified shares 280.4 96 94
Unidentified shares 12.6 4 6
Shares in free float 198.6 68 -
T1.7 GEOGRAPHICAL DISTRIBUTION OF
INSTITUTIONAL FREE FLOAT
FIGURES ROUNDED IN M
Dec. 2021 Dec. 2020
Number Number
of shares in % of shares in %
United States 1039 58 69.3 4
United Kingdom 23.6 13 347 21
Germany 1.9 7 13.6 8
France 8.6 5 12.3 7
Canada 7.3 4 2.5 1
Rest of Europe 17.0 9 24.6 15
Rest of World 74 4 n.2 7
REGIONALLY
ATTRIBUTED
SHARES 179.9 100 168.2 100
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VOTING RIGHTS NOTIFICATIONS

Based on the notifications received, a total of four investors
(besides Fresenius SE & Co. KGaA) each held more than 3 % of
the voting rights in Fresenius Medical Care at the end of 2021.

All voting rights notifications in accordance with sections 33,
38, and 39 of the German Securities Trading Act (WpHG) are
published on our website at www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/
en/investors/shares/shareholder-structure.

SUSTAINABLE INVESTMENT

Institutional investors are increasingly basing their investment
decisions on whether companies act in a sustainable and
responsible way. They consult sustainability ratings and rank-
ings to help them assess how companies perform in this area.
Since 2008, Fresenius Medical Care has participated in the
scoring conducted by the non-profit organization CDP. In 2021,
the Company was again classified in the second-highest cate-
gory for “Climate” and “Water" (“Climate": B; “Water": B-). This
makes Fresenius Medical Care one of the leading health care
companies in this area.

In 2021, Fresenius Medical Care was also represented in the
Dow Jones Sustainability Europe Index for the twelfth time.
The index tracks those companies among the largest 600 listed
in Europe that S&P Global, a world-leading provider of financial
data and analysis, considers to be the best in economic, ecolog-
ical, and social terms.

More information on Fresenius Medical Care's sustainability
activities can be found in the Non-Financial Group Report
starting on PAGE 83.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021

ANALYSTS' ASSESSMENTS OF
OUR SHARES

Financial analysts continue to show great interest in Fresenius
Medical Care. In 2021, 24 equity sell-side analysts reported on
the Company and on Fresenius Medical Care shares. At the
end of the year, seven of them issued a buy recommendation,
16 issued a hold recommendation, and one issued a sell recom-
mendation. Two brokers added Fresenius Medical Care to their
coverage in 2021.

RATING AND FINANCING

Fresenius Medical Care is rated investment grade by the three
leading rating agencies Standard & Poor's, Moody's, and Fitch.
The rating of all three agencies remained unchanged in the
period under review. An overview can be found in TABLE 5.63 ON
PAGE 241.

In May 2021, Fresenius Medical Care issued bonds with a total
volume of $1.5 BN, broken down into a $850 M tranche matur-
ing in December 2026 and a $650 M tranche maturing in
December 2031. The bonds issued in fiscal year 2021 have
allowed Fresenius Medical Care to lower its financing costs and
optimize the currency mix and maturity profile of its liabilities,
thereby further strengthening its sound financing. To enable
the improvement of short-term financing options, the volume
of the existing commercial paper program was increased from
€1BN to €1.5 BN in October 2021.

In July 2021, Fresenius Medical Care concluded a new syndi-
cated revolving credit facility with a group of 34 banks. The
credit facility has a volume of €2 BN and a term of five years
with two one-year extension options. It can be utilized in differ-
ent currencies. The new credit facility serves to additionally


https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/shares/shareholder-structure
https://www.freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors/shares/shareholder-structure
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secure liquidity for general business purposes. The increased
volume compared with the previous credit facility provides the
Company with an even stronger liquidity position and addi-
tional financial flexibility.

Reflecting Fresenius Medical Care's commitment to creating
value successfully from an ecological, social and economic
standpoint, a sustainability component has been included in
the new credit facility. Accordingly, the margin of the revolv-
ing credit facility may rise or fall depending on the sustain-
ability performance.

INVESTOR RELATIONS
ACTIVITIES

Fresenius Medical Care's investor relations activities focus on
ensuring continuous and transparent information for all capital
market participants. The Company's strategy, operational and
financial business development and sustainability activities are
key elements of its capital market communications. Target
groups include shareholders, analysts, and other capital mar-
ket participants, as well as employees, journalists, and the gen-
eral public. Fresenius Medical Care aims to make a significant
contribution to its long-term value growth through transparent
capital market communications.

In fiscal year 2021, the Investor Relations team hosted more
than 900 investor meetings to inform about the Company's
development. To this end, Fresenius Medical Care presented
at numerous roadshows and investment conferences in 2021,
which took place in virtual form. In addition to communicating
the current business development, the Investor Relations
team organized a number of virtual events with various mem-
bers of the Management Board to provide capital market par-
ticipants with an insight into medium and long-term value
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drivers. The topics addressed included the ongoing digitaliza-
tion of patient care, innovations in products and treatments,
and Fresenius Medical Care's sustainability activities with a
view to following an increasingly patient-centered treatment
approach. This way, the dialog with capital market partici-
pants in 2021 was significantly intensified, despite the ongo-
ing COVID-19 pandemic.

Corporate governance is a key element of Fresenius Medical
Care's capital market communications and investor relations
activities. Most recently, Dr. Dieter Schenk, Chairman of the

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021

Supervisory Board, and Dr. Dorothea Wenzel, member of the
Supervisory Board appointed to the newly established position
of Lead Independent Director, together with experts from vari-
ous departments and the Head of Investor Relations, answered
qguestions on corporate governance and control, the Global
Sustainability Program, remuneration structure and compli-
ance at a virtual multi-day roadshow in December 2021.

Further information on Fresenius Medical Care's investor
relations activities can be found on our website at www.
freseniusmedicalcare.com/en/investors.

T1.8 KEY SHARE DATA

Share type

No par value bearer share

Stock exchanges

Germany

Frankfurt Stock Exchange/Prime Standard

U.S. (ADR)

New York Stock Exchange (NYSE)

Securities identification numbers and ticker symbols

Deutsche Borse FME

NYSE (ADR) FMS

WKN 578 580

ISIN DE0005785802
CUSIP number (NYSE) 358029106

Reuters

FMEG.DE (Xetra) or FMS.N (NYSE)

Bloomberg

FME GY (Xetra) or FMS US (NYSE)
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TO OUR SHAREHOLDERS

Interview with Rice Powell

Management Board
Capital Markets and Shares
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T1.9 KEY FIGURES FOR FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE SHARES

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
NUMBER OF SHARES' inM 293.0 292.88 304.44 306.88 306.45
Share prices (Xetra trading)
High for the year in€ 70.96 79.00 76.32 93.00 88.90
Low for the year in€ 52.78 56.00 55.58 56.64 74.69
Year-end in€ 5714 68.20 65.96 56.64 87.78
Share prices (ADR NYSE)
High for the year in$ 43.32 46.55 4275 57.51 52.72
Low for the year in$ 29.82 29.21 3110 31.30 39.70
Year-end in$ 32.46 41.56 36.83 32.39 52.55
Market capitalization?
Year-end inEM 16,742 19,974 20,081 17,382 26,900
Index weighting
DAX in % 07 1.5 1.3 1.4 1.8
Dividend
Dividend per share in€ 1.353 1.34 1.20 117 1.06
Dividend yield# in % 2.363 1.96 1.82 21 1.2
Total dividend payout inEM 3963 392 358 359 325
Earnings per share (EPS)
Number of shares® inM 29294 294.06 302.69 306.54 306.56
Earnings per share (EPS) in€ 3.31 3.96 3.96 6.47 417

' Shares outstanding on December 31 of the respective year.
2 Based on shares outstanding.

3 Based on the proposal to be approved by the Annual General Meeting on May 12, 2022.

4 With reference to the respective year-end.
5 Weighted average number of shares outstanding.
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GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT THIS
GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

The following discussion and analysis of the group manage-
ment report of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA and its
subsidiaries (together referred to as "we", “our”, “FMC AG &
Co. KGaA", “Fresenius Medical Care”, “the Group” or “the Com-
pany") was prepared in accordance with sections 315 of the
German Commercial Code and German Accounting Standards
No. 20, and should be read in conjunction with our consoli-
dated financial statements and related notes contained else-
where in this report. Some of the statements, including those
concerning future revenue, costs and capital expenditures,
possible changes in our industry as well as the competitive and
financial conditions include forward-looking statements. We
made these forward-looking statements based on the expecta-
tions and beliefs of the Management Board of the Company's
General Partner (Management Board) pertaining to future
events that may affect us, but which we cannot assure that
such events will occur or that the results will be as anticipated.
Because these statements involve opportunities, risks and
uncertainties, the actual results may differ materially (positive
as well as negative) from the results which the forward-looking
statements express or imply. The statements cover the con-
tent of and are subject to the uncertainties described in the
discussions in this report in the chapters “Outlook” starting on
PAGE 58 and "Risks and opportunities report” starting on
PAGE 62 as well as in NOTE 2 AND 22 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.

Our business is also subject to other opportunities, risks
and uncertainties that we describe in our public filings.
Developments in any of these areas could cause our results to

differ materially to those that we or others have projected or
may project.

The non-financial group declaration is not part of the Group
Management Report. It is part of a separate chapter of the
Annual Report and will be disclosed as separate Non-Financial
Group Report starting on PAGE 83 together with the Group
Management Report.

Rounding adjustments applied to individual numbers and per-
centages shown in this and other reports may result in these
figures differing immaterially from their absolute values. Some
figures (including percentages) in this report have been
rounded in accordance with commercial rounding conventions.
In some instances, such rounded figures and percentages may
not add up to 100 % or to the totals or subtotals contained in
this report. Furthermore, totals and subtotals in tables may dif-
fer slightly from unrounded figures contained in this report due
to rounding in accordance with commercial rounding conven-
tions. A dash (“-") indicates that no data were reported for a
specific line item in the relevant financial year or period, while
a zero ("0") is used when the pertinent figure, after rounding,
amounts to zero.
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OVERVIEW
OF THE GROUP

We provide high-quality health care solutions
for patients with renal diseases. Our innovative
products and therapies set high standards in
dialysis treatment.

BUSINESS MODEL
Operations and company structure

Fresenius Medical Care is the world's leading provider of prod-
ucts and services for individuals with renal diseases based on
publicly reported revenue and the number of patients treated.
We provide dialysis and related services for individuals with
renal diseases as well as other health care services. We also
develop, manufacture and distribute a wide variety of health
care products, which we sell to customers in around 150 coun-
tries as well as using them in our own health care service oper-
ations. Our dialysis business is therefore vertically integrated.

We continue to generate most of our revenue with dialysis
products and dialysis care services. In our 4,171 proprietary
dialysis clinics in around 50 countries worldwide, we provide
care for over 345,000 dialysis patients. We are continuously
expanding this network of clinics, which is the largest in the
world based on the number of patients treated, to accommo-
date the ever-rising number of dialysis patients. At the same
time, we operate 42 production sites in around 20 countries.
The most important plants for dialyzer production are in St.
Wendel (Germany), Ogden, Utah (U.S.), Changshu (China),
L'Arbresle (France), and Buzen (Japan). Dialysis machines are
manufactured in Schweinfurt (Germany) and in Concord, Cali-
fornia (U.S.).
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Fresenius Medical Care has a decentralized structure and is
divided into the regions North America, Europe, Middle East
and Africa (EMEA), Asia-Pacific and Latin America. Our operat-
ing segments correspond to this regional breakdown (the term
“North America Segment" refers to our North America operat-
ing segment, the term “EMEA Segment” refers to the Europe,
Middle East and Africa operating segment, the term “Asia-
Pacific Segment” refers to our Asia-Pacific operating segment,
and the term “Latin America Segment"” refers to our Latin
America operating segment).

To support the implementation of its Strategy 2025, Fresenius
Medical Care launched its FME25 program. As announced on
November 2, 2021, we are entering the next phase of this pro-
gram focusing on the transformation of our global operating
model to strengthen profitability and enable execution on our
Strategy 2025 (FME25 Program). In around 2023, Fresenius
Medical Care will manage its business in the two global operat-
ing segments “Care Enablement” and “Care Delivery", adopt-
ing a more centralized approach. In Care Enablement, the Com-
pany will consolidate the previously decentralized health care
products business. Within Care Delivery we will combine our
global health care services business. Our Global Medical Office
will continue to leverage the vertically integrated approach to
optimize clinical outcomes for our patients. General and admin-
istrative functions will also be globalized using a three pillars
model of business partnering, centers of excellence and global
shared services.

Fresenius Medical Care's company headquarters is in Bad Hom-
burg v.d. H6he, Germany. The headquarters in North America,
our most important region in terms of revenue, is in Waltham,
Massachusetts (U.S.).

CHART 2.1 ON PAGE 20 provides an overview of our most import-

ant production sites and headquarters.
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Our products and services

Fresenius Medical Care provides dialysis and related services
for individuals with renal diseases as well as other health care
services. We also develop, manufacture and distribute a wide
variety of health care products. Our health care products and
health care services for the fiscal year 2021 are shown in
CHART 2.2 ON PAGE 21.

Approximately 3.8 M (2020: 3.7 M) patients worldwide requ-
larly underwent dialysis treatment at the end of 2021. Dialysis
is a life-saving blood cleansing procedure that substitutes the
function of the kidney in case of kidney failure. Healthy kidneys
clean the blood of waste products, reqgulate water levels, and
produce important hormones. If the kidneys are irreparably
damaged and are therefore no longer able to function ade-
quately over a longer period of time, this is known as chronic
kidney failure or end-stage kidney disease (ESKD). Many dis-
eases can lead to chronic kidney failure, particularly diabetes,
chronic nephritis or high blood pressure. There are currently
two treatment options for ESKD: kidney transplant and dialysis.

Our health care products

The health care products we offer in around 150 countries
around the world focus on the following therapies:

> Hemodialysis (HD) - HD is by far the most common type of
therapy for chronic kidney failure. Fresenius Medical Care
provides a wide range of HD products in dialysis centers as
well as for use at home. They include machines, dialyzers,
bloodline systems, HD solutions and concentrates, water
treatment systems, as well as data processing and analysis
systems.

> Peritoneal dialysis (PD) - In PD the peritoneum is used as a
natural filter. We offer systems and solutions for continuous
ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD) and automated peri-
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c21 MAJOR LOCATIONS

02

o8

North America

@® WALTHAM, U.S.
Regional headquarters
North America

01 OGDEN, U.S.
Dialyzers, PD solutions

02 CONCORD, U.S.
Dialysis machines

03 OREGON, U.S.
Concentrates

04 MONTREAL, CA
Concentrates

05 IRVING, U.S.
Concentrates

06 ERIKA DE REYNOSA, MX
Bloodlines

07 GUADALAJARA, MX
Dialysis solutions

08 TIJUANA, MX
Cycler, concentrates

04
o1 .
03  WALTHAM
u.S.
05
06
o7
09

10 o
RI10 DE JANEIRO
BR

1

Latin America

@ RIO DE JANEIRO, BR
Regional headquarters
Latin America

09 BOGOTA, CO
Dialysis solutions

10 JAGUARIUNA, BR
Dialysis solutions

11 PILAR, AR
Concentrates

BAD HOMBURG
DE

Europe

@® BAD HOMBURG, DE
Company headquarters and
regional headquarters Europe,
Middle East and Africa

12 SCHWEINFURT, DE
Dialysis machines

13 ST. WENDEL, DE
Dialyzers, PD solutions

14 L'ARBRESLE, FR
Dialyzers, concentrates

15 PALAZZO PIGNANO, IT
Bloodlines

16 KREMS, AT
Adsorbers

17 VRSAC, RS
Dialyzers, bloodlines

18 ANTALYA, TR
Bloodlines

20
21

HONG KONG
CN

22

Asia-Pacific

20

21

22

23

24

HONG KONG, CN

Regional headquarters

Asia-Pacific 23
INUKAI, JP 24
Fibers

BUZEN, JP

Dialyzers, PD bags

CHANGSHU, CN

Dialyzers, PD bags

ENSTEK, MY

Concentrates, PD bags

SMITHFIELD, AU

Concentrates

SCORESBY, AU
Dialysis chairs, packs
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cz2.2 OUR PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

HEALTH CARE SERVICES

End-Stage Renal Disease-
related treatments

~

~

End-Stage Renal Disease-
related laboratory testing
services

~

Acute dialysis services

OTHER HEALTH CARE
SERVICES

Value and risk-based
care programs

~

~

Pharmacy services

~

Vascular, cardiovascular and
endovascular specialty
services as well as ambulatory
surgery center services

~

Physician nephrology and
cardiology services

Ambulant treatment services

~

HEALTH CARE PRODUCTS

Hemodialysis machines and
peritoneal dialysis cyclers

~

Dialyzers

~

~

Peritoneal dialysis solutions

~

Hemodialysis concentrates,
solutions and granulates

Bloodlines

~

~

Renal pharmaceuticals

~

Systems for water treatment

~

Other equipment and
medical devices

OTHER HEALTH CARE
PRODUCTS

> Acute cardiopulmonary
products

> Apheresis products
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toneal dialysis (APD) in dialysis centers as well as for use at
home.

» Acute dialysis - In case of a sudden loss of renal function,
continuous renal replacement therapy is used in intensive
care units. Fresenius Medical Care also provides products
for this.

We also offer other health care products including acute car-
diopulmonary products and products for apheresis therapy,
which involves the removal of excess blood fats or patho-
genic antibodies.

Our health care services

Dialysis patients receive life-saving dialysis treatment and
other associated services such as laboratory tests in our 4,171
(2020: 4,092) dialysis clinics worldwide. Dialysis treatment at
our clinics is usually performed three times a week over a
period of several hours by trained medical staff. We also pro-
vide advice on medical support and training for home dialysis
patients in our dialysis centers.

In 2021, we treated most of our patients (60 %) (2020: 61 %) in
the North America Segment, followed by 19 % (2020: 19 %) in
the EMEA Segment, 11 % (2020: 11 %) in the Latin America Seg-
ment and 10 % (2020: 9 %) in the Asia-Pacific Segment.

Fresenius Medical Care is able to operate its own dialysis clinics
in countries where the health care system allows private-sector
companies to provide medical services and an appropriate
reimbursement system is in place.

In addition to our dialysis treatments, we also provide other
health care services which include value and risk-based care
programs, pharmacy services, vascular, cardiovascular and
endovascular specialty services as well as ambulatory surgery
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center services, physician nephrology and cardiology services
and ambulant treatment services.

Our value and risk-based care programs allow for partnerships
with payors and the government to reduce the overall cost of
care while helping people with kidney disease. We support the
entire spectrum of kidney care, from chronic kidney disease
(CKD) to ESKD, including kidney transplantation, supportive
care, and all modalities of dialysis. With our industry expertise,
we leverage artificial intelligence, analytics, technological capa-
bilities, and platforms to support early interventions.

Major markets and competitive position

According to our estimates, the number of dialysis patients
worldwide reached around 3.8 M in 2021 (2020:3.7 M) -a 2 %
growth rate. Fresenius Medical Care is the global leader in dial-
ysis care, providing treatment to about 9 % of all dialysis
patients (2020: 9 %). In the same period, 345,425 patients
were treated in Fresenius Medical Care's network of dialysis
centers (2020: 346,553). More information on the number of
patients can be found in CHART 2.3 ON PAGE 22.

Fresenius Medical Care is also the global market leader for dial-
ysis products. Products made by Fresenius Medical Care for use
in our own dialysis centers or for sale to third-party customers
accounted for a market share of 36 % in 2021 (2020: 36 %). In
the case of hemodialysis products, we had a 42 % share of the
global market (2020: 42 %), making us the world leader in this
field as well.

Dialyzers for hemodialysis are the largest product group in the
dialysis market with a worldwide sales volume of around 378 M
units in 2021 (2020: 366 M). Approximately 158 M (around
42 %) of these were made by Fresenius Medical Care (2020:
158 M or around 43 %), giving us by far the biggest market
share. Hemodialysis machines constitute another key compo-
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nent of our product business. Here, too, we are the clear mar-
ket leader. Of the estimated around 92,000 machines installed
in 2021 (2020: 91,000), approximately 48,000, or around 52 %
(2020: 45,000 or around 50 %), were produced by Fresenius
Medical Care.

Furthermore, we hold a strong position in the market for peri-
toneal dialysis products: Around 16 % (2020: around 16 %) of
all peritoneal dialysis patients use products made by Fresenius
Medical Care.

The overall market for dialysis care services in the U.S. is con-
solidated. Across all market segments, we treat around 37 % of
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all dialysis patients here (2020: 37 %). In the U.S., home dialy-
sis is becoming increasingly important. In 2021, about 15 %
(2020: 14 %) of our U.S dialysis treatments were performed at
home. Outside the U.S., the dialysis services business is much
more fragmented. With over 1,490 dialysis centers (2020:
1,470) and approximately 139,000 patients (2020: 140,000) in
around 50 countries (2020: 50), Fresenius Medical Care oper-
ates by far the largest network of clinics.

Global Manufacturing, Quality and Supply

Global Manufacturing, Quality and Supply (GMQS) is the opera-
tions division within Fresenius Medical Care that manages the

c2.3 PATIENTS TREATED
North America Segment
EMEA Segment
Asia-Pacific Segment

2021 B

2020 E’(
Latin America Segment
Worldwide

70 %

70 %

92 %

92 %

98 %

98 %

88 %

88 %

91%

91%

== fresenius Medical Care Other providers
Source: Company data and estimates
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procurement, production, distribution and supply of renal and
multi-organ therapy products. GMQS strives to ensure reliable
product quality and effective product supply at optimized total
cost with efficient utilization of capital.

The objective of our production strategy is to manufacture
high-quality products in the right place at the right time on the
best possible terms. We are able to implement this strategy
thanks to a network of large production sites, where we make
products for sale worldwide, as well as smaller production sites
that primarily supply products regionally.

Strategic purchasing at Fresenius Medical Care is geared
toward ensuring the availability, safety and quality of the mate-
rials used in production with the aim of further expanding our
competitive and internationally balanced supplier network.

At the end of 2021, GMQS had 16,203 employees (full-time
equivalents) (2020:16,307).

CORPORATE STRATEGY
AND OBJECTIVES

"“Creating a future worth living. For patients. Worldwide. Every
day.” This vision guides us in our efforts to give our patients
around the world a better life by offering them high-quality
products and outstanding health care.

At the same time, we expect to face a multitude of challenges
in the coming years: an aging population, a rise in chronic dis-
eases, fragmented care, staff shortages, cost pressure, digitali-
zation and the COVID-19 pandemic, all of which require new
approaches and solutions in health care.



GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

General information Outlook

Overview of the Group Risks and Opportunities Report

Economic Report Corporate Governance fundamentals

Subsequent events

c2.4 OUR WAY FORWARD - STRATEGY 2025

QENAL CApe
CONTINUY,

v

Renal care continuum

To meet the challenges of the future, we are leveraging our
core strategic competencies: innovating products, operating
outpatient facilities, standardizing medical procedures and
coordinating patients effectively.

Between now and 2025, we intend to go a step further and take
our strategy (SEE CHART 2.4) to the next level to bring us closer
to our goal of providing health care for chronically and critically
ill patients across the renal care continuum. We aim to use our
innovative, high-quality products and services to offer sustain-
able solutions at a reliable cost.
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The renal care continuum encompasses the following aspects:

> New renal care models:
We intend to use digital technologies such as artificial intel-
ligence and big data analytics to develop new care models
for patients with kidney failure, including personalized dial-
ysis and holistic home treatment.

Value and risk-based care models:

These models allow us to offer care that is not only better,
but also affordable in the long term. Our aim is to establish
sustainable partnerships with payors around the world to
drive forward the transition from fee-for-service payment
to pay-for-performance models.

~

v

Chronic kidney disease and transplantation:

We want to provide patients with holistic care along their
entire treatment path. To this end, we have extended our
value & risk-based care programs to include the treatment
of chronic kidney disease with a view to slowing disease
progression, enabling a smoother start to dialysis, and pre-
venting unnecessary hospital stays. We also intend to incor-
porate kidney transplants into value-based care models in
the future.

Future innovations:

Through our subsidiary, Fresenius Medical Care Ventures,
we invest in start-ups and early-stage companies in the
health care sector with the goal of gaining access to new
and disruptive technologies and treatment concepts for our
core business and complementary assets.

v

Critical care solutions

The number of patients requiring continuous renal replace-
ment therapy to treat acute kidney failure is set to rise in the
next decade to more than 1.6 million per year. We will expand
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our existing acute care portfolio to include other extracorpo-
real critical care therapy areas, such as the treatment of acute
heart, lung and multi-organ failure.

Complementary assets

We will supplement and strengthen our existing network where
feasible through additional partnerships, investments and
acquisitions. This will help us to create medical value added
while saving costs, enabling us to build an even more solid
foundation for our future growth to 2025 and beyond.

Integrating sustainability

For us, sustainability is about being successful in the long term
and creating lasting value - economically, ecologically and
socially. Our commitment to sustainability is incorporated in
our vision and our mission. It is also reflected in our strategy.
We have launched our Global Sustainability Program to step up
our efforts to integrate sustainability into our business activi-
ties from 2020 to 2022. In this context, we have introduced sus-
tainability as a non-financial performance target for manage-
ment compensation. The aim of the sustainability program is to
set global standards, responsibilities, targets and metrics for
sustainability performance.

For further information, see the separate Non-Financial
Group Report starting on PAGE 83 and the Compensation
Report within the chapter “Corporate Governance" starting
on PAGE 137.

Globalizing our operating model

Related to the changes according to the FME25 Program we
are structuring our operating model along the relevant future
value drivers. The new operating model continues the strat-
egy to globalize and simplify our structure in the course of
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implementing Strategy 2025. The objective is to better cap-
ture identified growth opportunities, thereby generating addi-
tional value, enhance capital allocation, further realize the
advantages of our vertical integration, increase transparency
both internally and externally, reduce the administrative bur-
den in terms of cost and speed, and promote a culture of aqil-
ity, innovation and accountability.

We expect to complete the transition to the new global operat-
ing model around 2023 and most of the saving initiative to be
implemented by 2025.

For further information, see the section “Business Model” in
the chapter “Overview of the group” starting on PAGE 19 and
the section “FME25" in the chapter “Outlook” starting on
PAGE 61.

PERFORMANCE MANAGEMENT
SYSTEM

The Management Board oversees our Company by setting stra-
tegic and operational targets and measuring various financial
key performance indicators used for internal management
determined in euro based upon IFRS.

The key performance indicators used for internal management
are identical in the individual operating segments.

Each operating segment is evaluated based on target figures
that reflect the revenue and expenses they control. The
effects of certain transactions and income taxes are not
included as we believe these items to be outside the operating
segments’ control. Financing is a corporate function, which
the operating segments do not control. Therefore, we do not
include interest expense relating to financing as an operating
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segment measurement. Similarly, we do not allocate certain
costs which relate primarily to certain headquarters' over-
head charges, including accounting and finance, certain legal
and IT costs, global research and development, global manu-
facturing, quality and supply chain management and costs
attributable to the Global Medical Office because we believe
that these costs are also not within the control of the individ-
ual operating segments.

Certain of the following key performance indicators and other
financial information as well as discussions and analyses set
out in this report include measures that are not defined by IFRS
(Non-IFRS Measure). We believe this information, along with
comparable IFRS financial measurements, is useful to our
investors as it provides a basis for assessing our performance,
payment obligations related to performance-based compensa-
tion, our compliance with covenants and enhanced transpar-
ency as well as comparability of our results. Non-IFRS financial
measures should not be viewed or interpreted as a substitute
for financial information presented in accordance with IFRS.

In 2021, the internal management system was updated due to
adjustments in the remuneration of the Management Board
and the way in which the Management Board manages and rep-
resents the Company. As a result, we adjusted the primary
financial key performance indicators of the internal manage-
ment system. These metrics are included in our outlook for
2022 and subsequent financial years as part of our announce-
ments of our quarterly and annual results.

Primary key performance indicators for internal management
from 2021 onwards are as follows:

> revenue
> revenue growth

> operating income
> net income
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> net income growth
> Return on invested capital (ROIC).

These metrics, with the exception of ROIC, are presented both
in accordance with IFRS and at Constant Currency. ROIC and
each of these indicators presented at Constant Currency are
considered non-IFRS measures. For the purposes of manage-
ment compensation, these metrics are also benchmarked at
the underlying exchange rates used in the calculation of our
incentive compensation targets. Net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities and free cash flow, as well as in % of
revenue, capital expenditures and net leverage ratio (as
described below) are included as secondary financial perfor-
mance indicators.

Our presentation of some key performance indicators and
other financial measures used in this report such as changes in
revenue, operating income and net income attributable to
shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA (or “net income") includes
the impact of translating local currencies to our reporting cur-
rency for financial reporting purposes. We calculate these Non-
IFRS financial measures at constant exchange rates in our pub-
lications to show changes in our revenue, operating income,
net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA
and other items without giving effect to period-to-period cur-
rency fluctuations. Under IFRS, amounts received in local (non-
euro) currency are translated into euro at the average exchange
rate for the period presented. Once we translate the local cur-
rency for the constant currency, we then calculate the change,
as a percentage, of the current period calculated using the
prior period exchange rates versus the prior period. This result-
ing percentage is a Non-IFRS Measure referring to a change as
a percentage at constant currency. These currency-adjusted
financial measures are identifiable by the designated terms
“Constant Exchange Rates” or “Constant Currency”.
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We believe that the measures at Constant Currency are useful
to investors, lenders and other creditors because such informa-
tion enables them to gauge the impact of currency fluctuations
on our revenue, operating income, net income attributable to
shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA and other items from
period to period. In addition, under our long-term incentive
plans, we measure the attainment of certain pre-determined
financial targets for revenue growth and net income growth in
Constant Currency. However, we limit our use of Constant Cur-
rency period-over-period changes to a measure for the impact
of currency fluctuations on the translation of local currency
into euro. We do not evaluate our results and performance
without considering both:

1. period-over-period changes in revenue, operating income,
net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co.
KGaA and other items prepared in accordance with IFRS
and

2.Constant Currency changes in revenue, operating income,
net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co.
KGaA and other items.

We caution the readers of this report not to consider these
measures in isolation, but to review them in conjunction with
changes in revenue, operating income, net income attributable
to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA and other items pre-
pared in accordance with IFRS. We present the growth rate
derived from non-IFRS measures next to the growth rate
derived from IFRS measures such as revenue, operating
income, net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG &
Co. KGaA and other items. As the reconciliation is inherent in
the disclosure included within section “Results of operations,
financial position and net assets"” below in the chapter “Eco-
nomic Report"” starting on PAGE 45, we believe that a separate
reconciliation would not provide any additional benefit.
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Primary key performance indicators

Revenue and revenue growth in accordance
with IFRS and at Constant Currency
(Non-IFRS Measures)

The management of our operating segments is based on reve-
nue and revenue growth as key performance indicators. We
believe that the key to continue growing our revenue is to
attract new patients and increase the number of treatments
performed each year. The number of treatments performed
each year is therefore an indicator of both the absolute amount
of revenue as well as continued revenue growth. For further
information regarding revenue recognition and measurement,
refer to NOTE 1 K of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements. Revenue and revenue growth are also bench-
marked based on movement at Constant Exchange Rates
(Non-IFRS-Measures).

Operating income in accordance
with IFRS and at Constant Currency
(Non-IFRS Measure)

Operating income is the most appropriate measure for evaluat-
ing the profitability of the operating segments and therefore is
also a key performance indicator. Operating income is also
benchmarked based on movement at Constant Exchange Rates.

Net income and net income growth in
accordance with IFRS and at Constant
Currency (Non-IFRS Measure)

As net income represents the profitability of our business after
all costs including operating costs, interest income and expense,
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taxes and the impacts of noncontrolling interests in our subsid-
iaries, these metrics show our profit for the period after taking
into account all aspects of our business. On a consolidated
level, percentage growth in net income (net income attributable
to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA) at Constant Currency is
an additional key performance indicator used for internal man-
agement. Net income and net income growth are also bench-
marked based on movement at Constant Exchange Rates.

Return on invested capital
(Non-IFRS Measure)

ROIC is the ratio of operating income after tax (“net operating
profit after tax” or “NOPAT") of the last 12 months to the aver-
age invested capital of the last five quarter closing dates,
including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made
during the year with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold,
consistent with the respective adjustments made in the deter-
mination of adjusted EBITDA above (see “Net leverage ratio
(Non-IFRS Measure)"). ROIC expresses how efficiently we allo-
cate the capital under our control or how well we employ our
capital with regard to investment projects. Additionally, in cal-
culating ROIC, we have excluded the 2020 impairment of good-
will and trade names in the Latin America Segment driven by a
macro-economic downturn and increasing risk adjustment
rates for certain countries in the region (Impairment Loss) (SEE
NOTE 2 A) of the notes to the consolidated financial statements)
to increase comparability of the underlying financial figures of
certain Management Board compensation performance targets
with the Company’s operating performance and to adequately
recognize the actual performance of the members of the Man-
agement Board. An adjustment to exclude amounts related to
the implementation of IFRS 16, Leases, which replaced the
straight-line operating lease expense for former leases under
International Accounting Standard 17, Leases, with a deprecia-
tion charge for the lease asset and an interest expense on the
lease liability as well as the classification of certain IAS 17
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leases (such effects being, collectively “Effect from IFRS 16") is included for the purpose of T2.6 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC

increasing the comparability of previously reported information in accordance with our long-

term incentive plans in 2019 (see the Compensation Report in the chapter “Corporate Gover-

nance" starting on PAGE 137 for additional information regarding these adjustments).

TABLES 2.5 UNTIL 2.16 are showing the reconciliation of average invested capital to total assets,
which we believe to be the most directly comparable IFRS financial measure, and how ROIC is

calculated.

2021

Dec. 31,
2021

IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Sept. 30,
20213

June 30,
20213

March 31, Dec. 31,
20213 20203

Total assets

15

186

189 291

Minus: Cash and
cash equivalents

- 3)

Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities'

- (6)

T2.5 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL
AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE, UNADJUSTED)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Invested capital

15

186

189 282

Adjustment to average
invested capital as
of December 31, 2021

154

Adjustment to
operating income?

12

Adjustment to
income tax expense?

@3)

Adjustment to NOPAT

9

2 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made within the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2020
Total assets 34,367 33,831 32,987 33,159 31,689
Plus: Cumulative goodwill
amortization 612 604 602 598 583
Minus: Cash and cash
equivalents (1,482) (1,562) (1,408) 1,073) (1,082)
Minus: Loans to related parties (15) (4) (6) 1) )
Minus: Deferred tax assets (315) (374) (359) (333) (351)
Minus: Accounts payable
to unrelated parties (736) (706) (685) (635) (732)
Minus: Accounts payable
to related parties 121) (94) (102) (105) (95)
Minus: Provisions and other
current liabilities’ (3,319) (3,516) (3,528) (3,436) (3,180)
Minus: Income tax liabilities a74) (224) (218) (232) 197)
Invested capital 28,817 27955 27,283 27942 26,634
Average invested capital
as of December 31, 2021 27,725
Operating income 1,852
Income tax expense? (490)
NOPAT 1,362

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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727 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T2.8 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL

AND ROIC (EXCLUDING IMPAIRMENT LOSS)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2021 2021 20213 20213 20213 20203 Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2021 2021 2021 2021 2021 2020
Total assets 34,367 33946 33,173 33,348 31,980
K - Total assets 195 195 195 195 195
Plus: Cumulative goodwill
amortization and Plus: Impairment Loss (195) (195) (195) (195) (195)
Impairment Loss 612 604 602 598 583
Invested capital o = o = =
Minus: Cash and K
cash equivalents (1,482) (1,562) (1,408) (1,073) (1,085) Adjustment to average
invested capital as
Minus: Loans to related parties (15) (4) (6) 1) 1) of December 31, 2021 =
Minus: Deferred tax assets (315) (374) (359) (333) (351) Adjustment to operating income -
Minus: Accounts payable Adjustment to
to unrelated parties (736) (706) (685) (635) (732) income tax expense -
Minus: Accounts payable Adjustment to NOPAT -
to related parties 121 (94) (102) (105) (95)
Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities' (3,319) (3,516) (3,528) (3,436) (3,186)
Minus: Income tax liabilities 174) (224) (218) (232) (197)
Invested capital 28,817 28,070 27,469 28,131 26,916
Average invested capital
as of December 31, 2021 27,879
Operating income 3 1,864
Income tax expense?3 (493)
NOPAT 1,371
ROIC IN % 4.9

2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
3 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made within the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.
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T29 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL T210 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL
AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE, EXCLUDING IMPAIRMENT LOSS) AND ROIC FOR THE EFFECT FROM IFRS 16
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED
Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,

2021 2021 20213 20213 20213 20203 2021 2021 20213 20213 20213 20203
Total assets 34,562 34141 33,368 33,543 32,175 Total assets (4,292) (4,198) 477) (4,242) (4129)
Plus: Cumulative Minus: Deferred tax assets (29) (39) (35) (30) 2
goodwill amortization 47 409 407 403 388 - .

Minus: Provisions and
Minus: Cash and other current liabilities' (139) (136) (132) (134) (128)
cash equivalents (1,482) (1,562) (1,408) 1,073) (1,085) - .

Minus: Income tax liabilities 1 1 1 1 1
Minus: Loans to related parties (15) (4) (6) 1) M .

Invested capital (4,459) (4,372) (4,343) (4,405) (4,254)
Minus: Deferred tax assets (315) (374) (359) (333) (351) K

Adjustment to average
Minus: Accounts payable invested capital as
to unrelated parties (736) (706) (685) (635) (732) of December 31, 2021 (4,367)
Minus: Accounts payable Adjustment to operating income (105)
to related parties 121 (94) (102) (105) (95) -

Adjustment to
Minus: Provisions and income tax expense 28
other current liabilities' (3,319) (3,516) (3,528) (3,436) (3,186) -

Adjustment to NOPAT a7
Minus: Income tax liabilities (174) (224) (218) (232) 197) 3 — — o - - ,A )

Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made within the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.

Invested capital 28,817 28,070 27,469 28,131 26,916
Average invested capital
as of December 31, 2021 27,879
Operating income 3 1,864
Income tax expense?3 (493)
NOPAT 1,371
ROIC IN % (EXCLUDING
IMPAIRMENT LOSS) 4.9

2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
3 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made within the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.
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T211 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE,

EXCLUDING IMPAIRMENT LOSS AND THE EFFECT FROM IFRS 16)

IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T212 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL

AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE, UNADJUSTED)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2021 2021 20213 20213 20213 20203 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019
Total assets 30,270 29,943 29,191 29,301 28,046 Total assets 31,689 33,049 34,190 34,072 32,935
Plus: Cumulative goodwill Plus: Cumulative goodwill
amortization 417 409 407 403 388 amortization and
- Impairment Loss 583 405 421 430 420
Minus: Cash and
cash equivalents (1,482) 1,562) (1,408) (1,073) (1,085) Minus: Cash and cash
- - equivalents (1,082) (1,599) (1,890) (1,405) (1,008)
Minus: Loans to related parties (15) (4) (6) 1) M
- Minus: Loans to related parties M (51 (49) (40) (72)
Minus: Deferred tax assets (344) (413) (394) (363) (349)
- Minus: Deferred tax assets (350 (429) (391) (382) (361)
Minus: Accounts payable
to unrelated parties (736) (706) (685) (635) (732) Minus: Accounts payable
- to unrelated parties (732) (729) (678) (762) a7
Minus: Accounts payable
to related parties @121 (94) (102) (105) (95) Minus: Accounts payable
- — to related parties (95) (132) (135) (134) (119)
Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities' (3,458) (3,652) (3,660) (3,570) (3,314) Minus: Provisions and
- — other current liabilities' (3,180) (3,641) (3,799) (2,577) (2,452)
Minus: Income tax liabilities a73) (223) (217) (231) (196)
N Minus: Income tax liabilities 197) (269) (212) (200) (180)
Invested capital 24,358 23,698 23,126 23,726 22,662
K N Invested capital 26,634 26,604 27,457 29,002 28,446
Average invested capital
as of December 31, 2021 23,512 Average invested capital
. as of December 31, 2020 27,628
Operating income 3 1,759
Operating income 2,304
Income tax expense?3 (465)
Income tax expense? (688)
NOPAT 1,294
NOPAT 1,616
ROIC IN % (EXCLUDING
IMPAIRMENT LOSS AND ROIC IN % 5.8
THE EFFECT FROM IFRS 16) 5.5

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities

2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
3 Including adjustments for acquisitions and divestitures made within the reporting period with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold.

and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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T213 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL
AND ROIC (EXCLUDING IMPAIRMENT LOSS)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T 214 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL
AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE, EXCLUDING IMPAIRMENT LOSS)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019
Total assets 195 - - - - Total assets 31,884 33,049 34,190 34,072 32,935
Plus: Impairment Loss (195) - - - - Plus: Cumulative goodwill
amortization 389 405 421 430 420
Invested capital - - - - -
K Minus: Cash and
Adjustment to average cash equivalents (1,082) (1,599) 1,890) (1,405) (1,008)
invested capital
as of December 31, 2020 - Minus: Loans to related parties Q)] (51) (49) (40) (72)
Adjustment to operating income 195 Minus: Deferred tax assets (351) (429) (391 (382) (361
Adjustment to income tax Minus: Accounts payable
expense 19 to unrelated parties (732) (729) (678) (762) (717)
Adjustment to NOPAT 214 Minus: Accounts payable
to related parties (95) (132) (135) (134) 19)
Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities' (3,180) (3,641) (3,799) (2,577) (2,452)
Minus: Income tax liabilities 197) (269) (212) (200) (180)
Invested capital 26,635 26,604 27,457 29,002 28,446
Average invested capital
as of December 31, 2020 27,628
Operating income 2,499
Income tax expense? (669)
NOPAT 1,830
ROIC IN % (EXCLUDING
IMPAIRMENT LOSS) 6.6

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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T215 ADJUSTMENTS TO AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL
AND ROIC FOR THE EFFECT FROM IFRS 16
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

T216 RECONCILIATION OF AVERAGE INVESTED CAPITAL AND ROIC (NON-IFRS MEASURE,
XCLUDING IMPAIRMENT LOSS AND THE EFFECT FROM IFRS 16)
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31, Dec. 31, Sept. 30, June 30, March 31, Dec. 31,
2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2019
Total assets (4130) (4,261) (4,421) (4,388) (4,356) Total assets 27,754 28,788 29,769 29,684 28,579
Minus: Deferred tax assets 2 4 3 3 2 Plus: Cumulative goodwill
- . amortization 389 405 421 430 420
Minus: Provisions and
other current liabilities' (128) (134) (140) (143) (140) Minus: Cash and
- — cash equivalents (1,082) (1,599) 1,890) (1,405) (1,008)
Minus: Income tax liabilities 1 - - - -
) Minus: Loans to related parties 1) (51 (49) (40) (72)
Invested capital (4,255) (4,391) (4,558) (4,528) (4,494)
K Minus: Deferred tax assets (349) (426) (388) (380) (359)
Adjustment to average
invested capital Minus: Accounts payable
as of December 31, 2020 (4,445) to unrelated parties (732) (729) (678) (762) T7)
Adjustment to operating income 134) Minus: Accounts payable
- to related parties (95) (132) (135) (134) mo)
Adjustment to
income tax expense 40 Minus: Provisions and
- other current liabilities' (3,309) 3,775) (3,940) (2,720) (2,592)
Adjustment to NOPAT (94)
Minus: Income tax liabilities (196) (269) (212) (200) (180)
Invested capital 22,379 22,212 22,898 24,473 23,952
Average invested capital
as of December 31, 2020 23,183
Operating income 2,365
Income tax expense? (629)
NOPAT 1,736
ROIC IN % (EXCLUDING
IMPAIRMENT LOSS AND
THE EFFECT FROM IFRS 16) 7.5

" Including non-current provisions, non-current labor expenses and variable payments outstanding for acquisitions and excluding pension liabilities
and noncontrolling interests subject to put provisions.
2 Adjusted for noncontrolling partnership interests.
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Secondary financial
performance indicators

Operating income margin

Operating income margin represents the ratio of operating
income to revenue. We believe operating income margin shows
the profitability of each of our operating segments and our
company on a consolidated basis.

Basic earnings per share growth in
accordance with IFRS and at Constant
Currency (Non-IFRS Measure)

Percentage growth in basic earnings per share at Constant Cur-
rency is a key performance indicator to evaluate our profitabil-
ity. This indicator helps to manage our overall performance.
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing net income
attributable to shareholders by the weighted-average number
of outstanding shares over the course of the year.

Net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities in % of revenue

Our consolidated statement of cash flows indicates how we
generated and used cash and cash equivalents. In conjunction
with our other primary financial statements, it provides infor-
mation that helps us evaluate changes to our net assets and
our financial structure (including liquidity and solvency). Net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities is applied to
assess whether a business can internally generate the cash
required to make the necessary replacement and expansion of
investments. This indicator is impacted by the profitability of
our business and the development of working capital, mainly
receivables. Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
in percent of revenue shows the percentage of our revenue
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that is available in terms of financial resources. This measure is
an indicator of our operating financial strength.

Free cash flow in % of revenue
(Non-IFRS Measure)

Free cash flow (which we define as net cash provided by (used
in) operating activities after capital expenditures, before acqui-
sitions and investments) refers to the cash flow we have at our
disposal, including cash flows that may be restricted for other
uses. This indicator shows the percentage of revenue available
for acquisitions and investments, dividends to shareholders,
reducing debt financing or for repurchasing shares.

For a reconciliation of cash flow performance indicators for
2021 and 2020 which reconciles free cash flow and free cash
flow in percent of revenue to Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities and Net cash provided by (used in) operat-
ing activities in percent of revenue, see section “Results of
operations, financial position and net assets - Financial posi-
tion - Sources of Liquidity” in the chapter “Economic Report"”
starting on PAGE 52.

Capital expenditures, acquisitions
and investments

We manage our investments using a detailed coordination and
evaluation process. The Management Board sets our complete
investment budget as well as the investment targets. Before
realizing specific investment projects or acquisitions, our inter-
nal Acquisition & Investment Committee examines the individ-
ual projects and measures considering the expected return on
investment and potential yield. Investment projects are evalu-
ated using common methods such as net present value, inter-
nal interest rate methods and payback periods. We utilize this
evaluation methodology to ensure that we only make and
implement investments and acquisitions that increase share-
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holder value. Capital expenditures for property, plant and
equipment and capitalized development costs is an indicator
used for internal management. It influences the capital invested
for replacement and expansion.

Net leverage ratio (Non-IFRS Measure)

The net leverage ratio is a performance indicator used for cap-
ital management. To determine the net leverage ratio, debt and
lease liabilities less cash and cash equivalents (net debt) is
compared to adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes,
depreciation and amortization), adjusted for:

» the effects of acquisitions and divestitures made during the
year with a purchase price above a €50 M threshold as
defined in our Syndicated Credit Facility (SEE NOTE 14 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements),

> non-cash charges,

> impairment loss, and

> costs related to our FME25 Program.

The ratio is an indicator of the length of time the Company
needs to service the net debt out of its own resources. We
believe that the net leverage ratio provides alternative infor-
mation that management believes to be useful in assessing our
ability to meet our payment obligations in addition to consider-
ing the absolute amount of our debt. We have a strong market
position in a growing, global and mainly non-cyclical market.
Furthermore, most of our customers have a high credit rating
as the dialysis industry is characterized by stable and sustained
cash flows. We believe this enables us to work with a reason-
able proportion of debt.

For a reconciliation of the net leverage ratio as of December 31,
2021 and 2020, see section “Results of operations, financial
position and net assets - Financial position - Financing strat-
egy" in the chapter “Economic Report” starting on PAGE 52.
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Operating performance excluding special
items (Non-IFRS Measure)

Management believes that there are special items which should
be excluded from certain metrics to enhance transparency and
comparability (Special Items).

In the presentation of the expected development of our busi-
ness in our outlook, we identified Special Items which, when
excluded from the results disclosed, may provide a reader with
further useful information in assessing our performance. These
results excluding Special Items are presented as part of the
comparison of the actual business results with the outlook and
in our outlook, together with reconciliations of the perfor-
mance indicators for our Consolidated financial statements
prepared in accordance with IFRS to the performance indica-
tors excluding Special Items. These results excluding Special

T 217 PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Results Results
2021 2020
As Constant
reported Currency?
Revenue 17,619 18,182 17,859
Revenue growth at
Constant Currency
in % 2 2 5
Operating income 1,852 1908 2,304
Net income! 969 997 1164
Net income growth at
Constant Currency
in %' (14) (14) m
ROIC in % 49 n.a. 5.8

' Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA.
2 For further information on Constant Currency, see above in this section.
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Items should only be viewed as a supplement to our results dis-
closed in accordance with IFRS.

TABLE 2.17 provides an overview of our primary key perfor-
mance indicators.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

Developing innovative products and continuously improving
our renal therapies are intrinsic elements of our growth strat-
egy. Our worldwide research and development activities, which
are centrally managed by the Global Research and Develop-
ment division (GRD), enable us to develop products and renal
therapies efficiently and to systematically promote the
exchange of knowledge and technology between regions.

Global research and development strateqy

Health care systems face major financial challenges. We aim to
direct our research and development activities toward devel-
oping innovative products and renal therapies that not only
meet high quality standards that improve clinical outcomes
but are also affordable. As an operator of proprietary dialysis
clinics and a provider of products for treating patients at
home, we believe that these aims are entirely compatible. We
are also in a strong position to provide life-saving therapies
and treatments to patients suffering from acute kidney failure
due to COVID-19.

Our research and development strategy contributes to our
strategy 2025 which aims to provide health care for chronically
and critically ill patients across the renal care continuum, in
critical settings and by acquiring and developing complemen-
tary assets. It is globally orientated, enabling us to respond
even better to the worldwide rise in demand for high-quality
yet cost-efficient treatment and therapy methods. In doing so,
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we also take regional market conditions into account and offer
a differentiated product range across all three key areas of our
strategy 2025 (see section “Corporate strategy and objectives”
starting on PAGE 22).

In the future, we intend to deliver innovative, competitive prod-
ucts even more efficiently. As part of our organizational realign-
ment, we will therefore consolidate our previously decentral-
ized health care products business including research and
development in the Care Enablement segment. The products
business will be organized along the three treatment modali-
ties that we serve: In-center, Home and Critical Care. We aim to
complete the roll-out of the new organizational model in 2023.
In addition to research and development activities within our
Company, we collaborate with external partners with the aim of
expanding our comprehensive innovation and technology net-
work. These partners include numerous academic institutions,
such as research institutes at prestigious universities in the
U.S. Another partner is the Renal Research Institute in New
York. This subsidiary of Fresenius Medical Care North America
is a renowned institution in the field of clinical research into all
aspects of chronic kidney failure. Together, we are working on
fundamental issues relating to renal therapies. Fresenius
Medical Care Ventures was established to increasingly collabo-
rate with start-ups and early-stage companies in the health
care sector with the objective of promoting an open culture of
innovation and enabling access to the latest technologies.

Innovations in 2021

Our aim is to continuously improve our patients' quality of life
and the outcomes of their treatment as well as to ensure our
growth in the medium to long term. To this end, we are not only
working on new products that are close to market launch, but
also on an extensive portfolio of innovation projects. These
focus on technologies in our core business as well as related
areas of strategic interest.
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The next generation of dialyzers

The new FX CorAL dialyzer was officially introduced at the
ERA-EDTA Virtual Congress (European Renal Association-Euro-
pean Dialysis and Transplant Association Congress) in June
2021. In developing the FX CorAL, the focus was on clinical per-
formance and hemocompatibility, both important factors in
patient-centered dialysis. This dialyzer is based on the innova-
tive Helixone® hydro membrane which forms a hydrolayer on
the inner membrane surface. This reduces protein adsorption,
resulting in a membrane with a low immune response and high
selective permeability. The goal is to reduce the side effects of
dialysis treatment.

The Optiflux® Enexa™ F500 with Endexo® technology is a new
dialyzer designed to support the treatment of patients with
acute kidney injury or chronic kidney disease without the
need for heparin. Endexo is a surface-modifying polymer that
is blended into the dialyzer fibers during manufacturing. It
makes the surface of the membrane less thrombogenic, so
that the blood is less likely to clot. The Optiflux® Enexa™ F500
received FDA (Food and Drug Administration) 510(k) clear-
ance - the most important admission procedure for medical
products - in July 2020 as a dialyzer intended for patients
with acute kidney injury or chronic kidney disease in cases
where conventional therapy is judged to be inadequate. In
gaining clearance, this device has passed a key hurdle prior to
market launch and is now in the final stage of development
for heparin-free hemodialysis.

New home dialysis system in development

For many patients, peritoneal dialysis is the preferred treat-
ment modality and the gentlest option during the first years of
renal replacement therapy. The new VersiPD 510K is the world's
most lightweight, digitally advanced automated peritoneal dial-
ysis (APD) cycler with the smallest footprint. Key features
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include a voice-guided set-up and Bluetooth connectivity to
peripheral devices such as a blood pressure cuffs and weighing
scales. It has an internet connection, allowing for seamless
movement of therapy data between the clinic and the patient’s
home. This digital application will allow providers to better
monitor and manage patients, their therapy, and their equip-
ment remotely. The VersiPD has been accepted for review and
approval by the FDA at this point, with market launch initially
planned in the U.S.

Critical care

The multiFiltratePRO is a state-of-the-art CRRT (continuous
renal replacement therapy) platform that offers advanced
functions such as kidney replacement therapy using success-
fully established Ci-Ca® regional citrate anticoagulation and
therapeutic plasma exchange. The multiFiltratePro has been
granted emergency use authorization (EUA) in the United
States and was launched in China and further countries in
Latin America in 2020, creating a broad market base. In 2022,
based on the significant growth in the number and distribu-
tion of machines, we will introduce new expansion and optimi-
zation measures that have been developed in 2021 and are
now close to completion.

In-center dialysis

The 4008A hemodialysis system is an entry-level device
designed for emerging markets worldwide. In future, health
care will depend on treatments such as dialysis being recorded
to electronic health record (EHR) systems to manage patients,
treatments, workflow optimization and personalized Al-based
therapy. The 4008A is a fully connected, low-cost digital solu-
tion. It uses QR codes and tablets that are connected to the
cloud. Online treatment data is available at the Point-of-Care
via the connection to theHub. Furthermore, in 2021, the 4008A
was the first active medical product to be manufactured in the
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Company’'s Changshu plant and sold to the Chinese market.
This allows it to be sold under the “Buy China" policy, which
effectively means that products must be produced in China to
be sold there. As China is an important emerging market the
4008A together with theHub fulfills all the criteria for future
market expansion in a digital world with a growing population
of patients suffering from end-stage renal disease.

Digitalization in health care

Starting in 2021, customers have benefited from a virtual real-
ity (VR) tool, stay-safe MyTraining VR, to support their patient
training for continuous ambulatory peritoneal dialysis (CAPD).
With stay+safe MyTraining VR, patients can perform virtual dial-
ysis treatment to learn about key aspects of the dialysis pro-
cess. Home dialysis patients undergo extensive therapy train-
ing at the dialysis center with a trainer when they start renal
replacement therapy. VR-based training gives them additional
practice at their own learning pace, allowing them to repeat the
training as often as they need. stay+safe MyTraining VR is ini-
tially available in Germany. Rollouts to other countries in the
Europe, Middle East and Africa region are planned for 2022.

Connected care will make it possible to tailor therapies to indi-
vidual patients, help decode the warning signs and underlying
causes of renal disease. The overarching goal is to better con-
nect people at the point of care and in home care scenarios
with the aim of improving outcomes and reducing costs. We
have built the world's largest repository of clinical data on
advanced kidney disease. The database will be augmented by
the world's largest genomic registry targeting kidney disease.
Frenova Renal Research, the Company's clinical research arm,
has started signing up patients in the U.S. who are willing to
provide their genetic data to enable researchers to better
understand kidney disease and develop innovative therapies.
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Research in the field of
regenerative medicine

Our independent affiliate Unicyte AG made significant progress
in the field of regenerative medicine in 2021. Unicyte started its
first clinical trial program for patients suffering from orphan
metabolic liver disorders. Pre-clinical experiments conducted in
2021 reaffirmed the pivotal role we believe Unicyte's technolo-
gies will play in delivering the curative potential of regenerative
medicine in both kidney and liver diseases, and beyond.

Xenotransplant technology developed by eGenesis, a gene
editing and genome engineering company in which Fresenius
Medical Care has also invested, is committed to developing safe
and effective human transplantable organs, tissues and cells to
address the global organ crisis. eGenesis is at the forefront of
pioneering clinical studies for solid organ xenotransplantation.
Their lead programs are for kidney and islet cell transplanta-
tion, which are both currently in preclinical development. eGen-
esis has a platform technology that allows for a broad pipeline
of applications. The company is actively investigating addi-
tional indications such as liver, heart, and lung as well as cell
therapies. Xenotransplantation may offer a solution to over-
come the shortage of transplantable human kidneys.

In 2021, we expanded our collaboration with the U.S. medical
company Humacyte, Inc. (Humacyte) with an additional $25 M
investment. In connection with Humacyte's merger with a spe-
cial-purpose acquisition company, as a result of which Huma-
cyte is now listed on the stock market, we have consolidated
our position in the newly combined entity as the lead investor
of a private investment in public equity.
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Fresenius Medical Care Ventures

Established in early 2016, Fresenius Medical Care Ventures
actively invests in early-stage companies in the field of diag-
nostics, therapies, medical devices, digital solutions, xenotrans-
plantation and remote monitoring technologies to improve out-
comes for patients suffering from chronic diseases or requiring
acute care. In 2021, Fresenius Medical Care Ventures managed
a portfolio of nine companies with minority interests, covering
a broad range of areas such as chronic kidney disease, chronic
heart failure, peripheral artery disease, bloodstream infections,
behavioral health and patient transportation. Memo Therapeu-
tics was a new addition to the portfolio in 2021. Based on a pro-
prietary antibody discovery platform, Memo Therapeutics is
developing therapeutics for kidney transplant patients who
suffer from a viral infection.

Research and development resources

In fiscal year 2021, Fresenius Medical Care spent a total of
around €221 M on research and development (2020: €194 M),
corresponding to around 6 % (2020: 5 %) of our health care
product revenue. At the end of 2021, our patent portfolio com-
prised some 10,048 property rights in approximately 1,622 pat-
ent families, i.e. groups of patents linked to the same invention.
Our research and development work in fiscal year 2021 pro-
duced around 103 additional patent families. Our broad portfo-
lio of patents shall provide us with a wide range of treatment
options in this highly competitive field in the future.
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At December 31, 2021, 1,187 employees (full-time equivalents)
worked for Fresenius Medical Care in research and develop-
ment worldwide (December 31, 2020: 1,218). They come from
various backgrounds: Physicians work side by side with soft-
ware specialists, business economists and engineers in inter-
disciplinary teams. More than 720 employees - the majority of
our research and development staff - are based in Europe. Most
research and development activities are carried out at our
facilities in Schweinfurt and Bad Homburg v.d. Héhe (Germany).
Other development sites are in St. Wendel (Germany), Bucha-
rest (Romania), Palazzo Pignano (Italy) and Krems (Austria). In
the U.S., the Company maintains centers of excellence for the
development of devices in Concord (California) and for dialyz-
ers and other disposable products in Ogden (Utah). Develop-
ment activities in Shanghai and Changshu (China) are focused
on the growing demand for cost-effective dialysis systems in
Asia and emerging markets. The Global Research and Develop-
ment organization coordinates collaboration and technology
exchange among the various sites. Carrying out research and
development responsibly is an intrinsic element of our innova-
tive culture. Further information is shown in TABLE 2.18.

T218 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

2021 2020 2019
Research and development
expendituresin €M 221 194 168
Number of patents’ 10,048 11,223 10,658
Employees™? 1,187 1,218 1,157

' As of December 31, for the respective period presented.
2 Full-time equivalents.
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EMPLOYEES

Fresenius Medical Care owes its business success to the com-
mitment of its employees. At a functional level, our human
resources management is conducted globally to ensure a uni-
form strategic approach in line with the overriding corporate
objectives.

At December 31, 2021, Fresenius Medical Care employed a total
of 122,909 members of staff (full-time equivalents) in 68 coun-
tries worldwide. Our workforce therefore decreased by 2 %
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year-on-year, or by 2,455 employees in absolute terms. For fur-
ther information on the movement in employees see section
"Results of operations, financial position and net assets"” in the
chapter “Economic Report"” starting on PAGE 45.

TABLE 2.19 shows the breakdown of employees by operating
segment as well as by products and services.

Staff costs at Fresenius Medical Care decreased to €6,962 M
in 2021 (2020: €7,067 M), corresponding to 40 % (2020: 40 %)
of revenue. Average staff costs per employee (annual average

T 219 EMPLOYEES BY OPERATING SEGMENT
FULL-TIME EQUIVALENTS

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 Change Share
NORTH AMERICA SEGMENT 60,782 62,925 (2,143) 49 %
Health care services 55,825 56,554
Health care products 4,957 6,371
EMEA SEGMENT 20,156 20,826 (670) 16 %
Health care services 16,670 16,964
Health care products 3,486 3,862
ASIA-PACIFIC SEGMENT 11,766 11,984 (218) 10 %
Health care services 9,419 9,416
Health care products 2,347 2,568
LATIN AMERICA SEGMENT 11,652 11,640 12 10 %
Health care services 10,369 10,325
Health care products 1,283 1,315
Corporate'’ 18,553 17,989 564 15 %
WORLDWIDE 122,909 125,364 (2,455) 100 %

" Including the divisions Global Manufacturing, Quality and Supply, Global Research and Development as well as Global Medical Office.
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based on full-time equivalents) amounted to €56,262 (2020:
€56,770).

More information about our employees can be found in the
Non-Financial Group Report starting on PAGE 83. For more
information on diversity, see the chapter “Corporate Gover-
nance” starting on PAGE 112 in this Annual Report.

QUALITY MANAGEMENT

At Fresenius Medical Care, we have a clear focus: we want to
offer high-quality and reliable products and therapies to ensure
the best possible medical care for our patients and customers.
We operate production facilities worldwide to meet the demand
for our dialysis products and other health care products.

Quality management at our
production sites

Over the last several years, GMQS has introduced a stable infra-
structure with efficient processes and systems. All production
sites follow the “Lean Manufacturing” approach which, in our
North America Segment and nine of twelve plants in our EMEA
Segment, includes the “Lean Six Sigma" management system.
The focus of Lean Manufacturing and Six Sigma is on the con-
tinuous improvement of manufacturing processes to achieve a
low defect rate resulting in improved product quality, while
reducing manufacturing times. We have successfully harmo-
nized all local Quality Management Systems (QMS) in all manu-
facturing and development sites of our EMEA Segment, Latin
America Segment and Asia-Pacific Segment under one Consol-
idated QMS (CQMS). Every medical device plant within these
segments has a local QMS directed by CQMS that is certified
either to 1ISO 13485:2016 and/or ISO 9001:2015 under Medical
Device Single Audit Program (MDSAP). The QMS of each site is
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reviewed through periodic corporate and local management
review and internal audits.

Quality management in our dialysis clinics

Our clinics work in conformance with the generally accepted
quality standards of the industry, particularly the U.S. Kidney
Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (KDOQI) guidelines, the
European Renal Best Practice standard, and increasingly the
Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO), an indus-
try initiative for global clinical practice quidelines. Clinical data
management systems are used to routinely collect certain
medical parameters, which we evaluate in anonymized form in
compliance with these guidelines.

More information about our quality management including our
quality data can be found in the Non-Financial Group Report.

Quality-based reimbursement systems

We participate in quality-based reimbursement models, which
we describe in the section “Macroeconomic and sector-specific
environment - Sector-specific environment - Health care and
reimbursement systems vary from country to country” in the
chapter “Economic Report” starting on PAGE 40.
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SUSTAINABILITY MANAGEMENT

Operating on a global scale means having global responsibility.
Fresenius Medical Care is aware of this responsibility.

Over the past years, we have continuously stepped-up our sus-
tainability activities. We have launched a Global Sustainability
Program to further drive the integration of sustainability into
our business.

Acting in a responsible and sustainable manner is a fundamen-
tal component of our strategy; it is the basis for our future as a
globally operating company in the health care industry.

Further information can be found in the separate Non-Financial
Group Report starting on PAGE 83.
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ECONOMIC REPORT

The dialysis market is a sustainable growth market
with steadily rising demand for products and ser-
vices to treat patients with chronic kidney disease.

MACROECONOMIC AND SECTOR-
SPECIFIC ENVIRONMENT

Macroeconomic environment
Dependency on economic cycles

Our business is exposed to economic cycles only to a relatively
small extent. This sets us apart from manufacturers of con-
sumer goods, for instance, whose products are subject to more
cyclical demand.

Our business is impacted more by government remuneration
systems and reimbursement rates. Dialysis is a vital medical
service, which is why it is usually paid for by the responsible
health care system.

Overall, the rapid global spread of the COVID-19 pandemic
resulted in a material deterioration of the conditions for the
global economy and greatly reduced economic growth. The
conditions also changed for our business in fiscal year 2021.

Exchange rate developments

As Fresenius Medical Care has a worldwide presence, the
results of its operations are significantly impacted by
exchange rate developments. Movements in the U.S. dollar
and the euro are especially crucial as we generate a major
part of our revenues in the U.S. On average over the course of
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the year, the euro traded stronger against the U.S. dollar com-
pared to fiscal year 2020. The global exchange rate develop-
ment in fiscal year 2021 was characterized by a relatively
strong euro against the U.S. dollar in the first half of 2021 and
the continued deterioration of the euro against the U.S. dollar
in the second half of 2021.

In addition, Fresenius Medical Care's operating results are
influenced by changes in the exchange rate between the euro
and local currencies. This is partly due to intra-Group sales
from large production sites in the euro zone to Group compa-
nies with different functional currencies, but also because the
euro is the currency we use for financial reporting. Regarding
intra-Group sales, individual subsidiaries are exposed to fluc-
tuations in the exchange rate between the invoicing curren-
cies and the currencies in which they conduct their local oper-
ations. Fresenius Medical Care reduces transaction risks, i.e.
risks from foreign currency exposures or exchange rate fluc-
tuations, through a global network of production facilities,
which is geared toward demand in the Company's dialysis
product business. As the production facilities are often based
in the markets they serve, costs are incurred in the same cur-
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rency in which revenue is generated. The risk of exchange
rate fluctuations is relatively low for health care services
because they are provided locally and are therefore invoiced
in the respective currency.

Sector-specific environment

Chronic kidney failure (end-stage kidney disease, ESKD) is a
global disease. The number of patients requiring renal replace-
ment therapy is increasing worldwide: At the end of 2021,
approximately 4.6 M patients (2020: 4.5 M) underwent dialysis
treatment or received a donor organ.

Further information can be found in TABLE 2.20.

For many years now, the number of donated organs worldwide
has been significantly lower than the number of patients on
transplant waiting lists. Despite extensive efforts by regional
initiatives to increase awareness of kidney donation and the
willingness to donate, the share of patients worldwide receiving
kidney transplantation compared with other treatment meth-
ods has remained relatively unchanged over the past ten years.

T2.20 PATIENTS WITH CHRONIC KIDNEY FAILURE (ESKD)

2021 Share 2020 Share

Patients with chronic kidney failure 4,644,000 100 % 4,547,000 100 %
of which patients with transplants 890,000 19 % 865,000 19 %
Of which dialysis patients 3,754,000 81% 3,682,000 81 %
In-center hemodialysis 3,306,000 % 3,245,000 1%
Peritoneal dialysis 424,000 9 % 413,000 9 %
Home hemodialysis 24,000 1% 24,000 1%

Source: Company information and estimates.
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The prevalence of chronic kidney failure varies between
regions. There are several reasons for this:

> The countries differ demographically, as age structures in
the population vary worldwide.

> The prevalence of risk factors for kidney disease, such as
diabetes and high blood pressure, varies widely.

> The genetic predisposition for kidney disease also differs
significantly around the world.

> Access to dialysis remains restricted in many countries,
meaning that many patients suffering from chronic kidney
failure are not treated and therefore do not appear in preva-
lence statistics.

» Cultural factors, such as nutrition, play a role.

The number of dialysis patients rose worldwide by around 2 %
in 2021 (2020: 3 %).

Comparison of dialysis treatment methods

In 2021, most dialysis patients were treated in one of more than
48,000 dialysis centers worldwide (2020: 47,000), with an
average of more than 75 patients per center (2020: 75). How-
ever, this figure varies considerably from country to country.

Hemodialysis is by far the most common form of therapy for
chronic kidney failure. A total of 88 % of dialysis patients were
treated in this way at a dialysis center in 2021 (2020: 88 %).
Home hemodialysis is an alternative to treatment at a dialysis
center. A total of 1% of all patients are currently treated in this
way (2020: 1%). In the year under review, 11 % of all dialysis
patients were treated with peritoneal dialysis, usually at home
(2020: 11 %). As a result, 12 % of the dialysis patients were
treated with home dialysis (2020: 12 %). In 2021, about 14 %
(2020: 14 %) of all dialysis patients in the U.S. were treated
with home dialysis.
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CHART 2.21 shows a comparison of in-center and home dialysis:

For Acute Renal Failure (ARF), the predominant treatment
method is continuous renal replacement therapy (CRRT).
Almost 50 % or 950,000 acute patients were treated with this
method in 2021 (2020: 46 % or 890,000). It is expected, that
by 2030 the number of patients requiring continuous renal
replacement therapy to treat acute kidney failure will increase
in the next decade to more than 1.6 M per year. In this field,
Fresenius Medical Care is well positioned with a market share of
approximately 34 % (2020: 34 %).

c2.21 IN-CENTER VS. HOME DIALYSIS

12 %
(448,000)

3,754,000

DIALYSIS PATIENTS
WORLDWIDE

88 %
(3,306,000)

. IN-CENTER DIALYSIS
HOME DIALYSIS
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Volume of the dialysis market

According to our estimates, the volume of the global dialysis
market decreased to around €79 BN in 2021 (2020: €81 BN). We
expect the following approximate breakdown for this market
volume: around €15 BN (2020: €15 BN) for dialysis products
and approximately €64 BN (2020: €66 BN) for dialysis services
(including dialysis drugs).

Other health care services

Chronic conditions, such as diabetes and cardiovascular dis-
eases, are becoming increasingly common and are responsible
for approximately two out of three deaths worldwide. In many
countries, a large proportion of health care spending goes
toward treating chronic diseases. To counteract the resultant
increase in cost pressure, more and more health care systems,
such as that in our largest market, the U.S., are starting to pro-
mote coordinated, holistic care rather than reimbursing individ-
ual services.

Due to the large number of different services offered in the
area of other health care services, we cannot provide a mean-
ingful estimate of the market volume. We currently offer medi-
cal services in other health care services primarily in the North
America and Asia-Pacific Segments and have adapted our ser-
vices in this area to these markets. The extent to which we roll
out our other health care services outside the U.S. may vary in
individual countries and regions depending on the respective
reimbursement system and market environment.

Our customers are mostly health insurers
and companies

Fresenius Medical Care's most important customers are
state-owned or public health insurers, private health insurers,
and companies.
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Health care and reimbursement systems
vary from country to country

As renal replacement therapy is a life-saving medical service,
patients often do not have to pay for dialysis themselves.
Instead, the costs are borne by the responsible health care sys-
tem. The reimbursement systems for dialysis treatment - in
other words, the structures used by health care systems to reg-
ulate reimbursement for dialysis services - differ from country
to country and sometimes even within countries. The business
activities of dialysis service providers and the reimbursement
of dialysis therapy are affected by various factors including
regional conditions, the treatment method, regulatory issues,
and the type of provider (public or private).

Our ability to influence the reimbursement of our services is
limited. The environment for reimbursement and the condi-
tions for prescribing ancillary services significantly influence
our business.

The reimbursement system in the U.S.

In the U.S., our biggest market, most of our patients are insured
by the governmental health authority, the so-called Centers for
Medicare and Medicaid (CMS). In fiscal year 2021, around 27 %
(2020: 32 %) of our total revenue was attributable to reim-
bursements by CMS, which also determines the reimbursement
rates for its patients (Medicare /Medicaid patients).

Due to pressure to reduce health care costs, the reimburse-
ment rates in the U.S. only increased slightly in the past. On
October 29, 2021, CMS issued a final rule for the reimburse-
ment rate for chronic kidney failure treatments for the calen-
dar year (CY) 2022 which they set annually as part of its pro-
spective payment system (PPS) (known as the End-Stage Renal
Disease (ESRD) PPS rate). The final base rate per treatment for
CY 2022 is $257.90, which represents a 1.9 % increase from the

40

CY 2021 base rate of $253.13. The increase of 1.9 % is based on
a market basket increase of 2.4 % partially offset by a 0.5 %
multifactor productivity adjustment that is mandated by the
Affordable Care Act (ACA). The updated base rate includes an
adjustment for the wage index budget-neutrality. CMS esti-
mates that, on average, large dialysis organizations will receive
a 2.4 % increase in payments in CY 2022 compared to CY 2021
under this final rule. The Acute Kidney Injury payment rate for
CY 2022 is to equal the CY 2022 ESRD PPS base rate. The CY
2021 ESRD PPS final rule ended the transitional drug add-on
payment adjustment (TDAPA) for calcimimetics which will now
be paid for as part of the ESRD PPS base rate. Starting Janu-
ary 1, 2021, the revised drug designation policy, including the
revised TDAPA payment policy took effect. CMS no longer
pays for Sensipar® and Parsabiv® under the TDAPA policy.

Any significant reduction in Medicare reimbursement rates
could have a material adverse effect on our health care ser-
vices business. As demand for dialysis products is affected by
Medicare reimbursement rates, this could have consequences
for the development of our product business. To the extent that
inflation, for example in the form of higher costs for personnel
and disposables, is not fully compensated by an increase in
reimbursement rates, our business, and results of operations
may also be adversely affected.

More information can be found in the section “Results of oper-
ations, financial position, and net assets” starting on PAGE 45
and in the chapter “Risk and Opportunities Report” starting on
PAGE 62.

In the U.S., reimbursement by private insurers and so-called
managed care organizations is higher than reimbursement by
government institutions. At the same time, payments from pri-
vate insurers constitute a substantial portion of our profits,
meaning our business is directly influenced by changes in the
share of reimbursements by private insurers in North America.
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In fiscal year 2021, 40 % of the Group's health care services
revenue was related to private insurers in the North America
Segment (2020: 36 %).

Transitional add-on payments for new drugs and devices
in the U.S.

Under the ESRD PPS drug designation process, CMS provides
payment using a TDAPA for new renal dialysis drugs and bio-
logicals with the exception of drugs that are available only in
oral forms. For drug and biologicals that fit into an existing
ESRD PPS functional category, CMS will pay for the drug using
the TDAPA for two years. At the end of the transitional period,
CMS will not update the base rate to reflect the cost and utiliza-
tion of the new drug. For new drugs and biologicals that do not
fit into an existing functional category, CMS will pay for the
drug using the TDAPA for a period of at least two years to allow
for sufficient gathering of cost and utilization data. At the con-
clusions of the transitional period, CMS would update the base
rate to reflect the inclusion of the new drug or biological.

In 2021, CMS started to make transitional add-on payment
adjustment for new and innovative equipment and supplies
(TPNIES) approved after January 1, 2020 and provided by
dialysis facilities. These new equipment and supplies must
satisfy defined material clinical improvement criteria and will
be reimbursed at 65 % of the invoice price, as determined by
each Medicare Administrative Contractor. Applications for the
TPNIES are due by February 1 of the year prior to the add-on
payment year. CMS reviewed two TPNIES applications for CY
2022 and granted approval to one. CMS estimates total
TPNIES payment amounts to facilities in CY 2022 would be
approximately $2.5 M, of which approximately $490 thous
would be attributed to beneficiary coinsurance. This is the
beneficiary's own share which is to be paid after reaching the
deductible amount.
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Quality-based reimbursement

The health care debate in some countries is currently focused
on establishing reimbursement structures based on treatment
quality (pay for performance). This transfers more responsibil-
ity to the medical service provider. The goal of reimbursement
models of this kind is to maintain a high quality of care com-
bined with lower overall costs for the health care system.

The reimbursement system in the U.S. is also an example of a
model based on qualitative criteria. For example, CMS defines
quality standards for dialysis centers as part of its quality
improvement program (QIP). Failure to reach these standards
can lead to a reduction in annual reimbursements of up to 2 %.

In the CY 2022 final rule, CMS will adopt a special scoring and
payment policy for Performance Year (PY) 2022 of the ESRD
QIP to address the issues in the scoring system caused by the
impact of the COVID-19 Public Health Emergency on QIP data.
The scoring and payment methodologies will be modified in PY
2022 to provide that no facility would receive a payment
reduction for PY 2022. CMS finalized the ESRD QIP measure
set for PY 2024 and 2025. CMS will also set performance stan-
dards for PY 2024 using CY 2019 data, which is the most
recently available full calendar year of usable data due to the
impact of COVID-19 on CY 2020 data.

Reimbursement in a value and risk-based environment
in the U.S.

We are also working closely with CMS in the area of value and
risk-based care programs. One example is our participationin a
CMS ESRD care model that ended March 31, 2021: To improve
the health of patients with chronic kidney failure while reduc-
ing costs for CMS, dialysis providers and physicians could join
forces to form entities known as ESCOs (End-Stage Renal Dis-
ease (ESRD) Seamless Care Organizations). We participated in
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23 ESCOs in this pilot project. ESCOs that fulfilled the minimum
quality standards specified by the program while generating
reductions in the cost of care above certain thresholds for dial-
ysis patients covered by the model received a portion of the
cost savings as reimbursement. ESCOs that involve dialysis
chains with more than 200 clinics are required to share in the
risk of cost increases and reimburse part of any such increases
to CMS if the actual costs exceed the agreed thresholds. As of
March 2021, approximately 34,800 patients were aligned to
ESCOs in which we participated.

We have also entered into value and risk-based care programs
with private payors to provide care to commercial and Medi-
care Advantage ESRD and CKD patients. Under these pay-
ment arrangements, our financial performance is based on
our ability to manage a defined scope of medical costs within
certain parameters for clinical outcomes. If we provide care
for less than the baseline, we retain the difference. If the cost
of complete care exceeds the baseline, we may owe the payor
the difference.

2019 Executive Order on new reimbursement models

On July 10, 2019, the then U.S. President signed an Executive
Order (EO) on advancing kidney health. Among other things,
the EO directs the Department of Health and Human Services
(HHS) to develop new Medicare reimbursement models that
enable diagnosis and treatment earlier in the course of kidney
disease and support the expansion of home dialysis as well as
promoting kidney transplants. One of these, the ESRD Treat-
ment Choices (ETC) model, is mandatory and creates financial
incentives for home dialysis treatments and kidney transplants.
Due to start in January 2021 and end in June 2027, the ETC
model consists of two partial reimbursement programs: on the
one hand it envisages increases to the reimbursement for
home dialysis treatments for a period of three years, on the
other hand a performance-based reimbursement adjustment

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021

on all dialysis claims. The performance-based reimbursement
adjustment is based on the rates of home dialysis and kidney
transplants and will amount to between -5 % and +4 % in the
first year of reimbursement and between -10 % and +8 % in
the final year. Performance based payment adjustments are
scheduled to start in July 2022 and run for six and a half years.
Participants in the model are selected at random. As of Decem-
ber 31, 2021, there was a total of 981 U.S. dialysis clinics, approx-
imately 35 % of these belong to Fresenius Medical Care.

On October 29, 2021, CMS finalized aspects of the ETC model
with an effective date of January 1, 2022, including changes to
the home dialysis rate calculation and transplant beneficiary
inclusion and transplant participation rates, the achievement
and improvement benchmarking and scoring methodology, and
a process for sharing certain beneficiary attribution and per-
formance data with ETC participants. CMS finalized additional
programmatic waivers and other flexibilities regarding the Kid-
ney Disease Education (KDE) benefit under the ETC model such
that the KDE benefit can be furnished via telehealth. CMS final-
ized changes to the ETC model to address health and socioeco-
nomic disparities by adding a Health Equity Incentive to the
improvement scoring methodology and stratifying achieve-
ment benchmarks for beneficiaries who are dual-eligible for
Medicare and Medicaid or low-income-subsidy recipients.

The Executive Order also announced voluntary Medicare reim-
bursement models aimed at providing financial incentives for
health care providers in the area of chronic kidney disease and
transplantation. Our applications for the voluntary Compre-
hensive Kidney Care Contracting (CKCC) model were accepted
in June 2020. This model allows health care providers to
assume various amounts of financial risk by forming so-called
Kidney Care Entities (KCE). Of the 29 accepted applications,
28 KCEs have elected to participate in the implementation
period, which started on October 15, 2020 on a no-risk basis.
We began participation in the first Performance Year of the
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CKCC model on January 1, 2022, at which time each participat-
ing entity starts to assume financial risk. The KCEs started
assuming financial risk at the start of the first PY on January 1,
2022. Of the 28 KCEs participating in the implementation
period, we moved forward with 22 of the KCEs during the first
PY. Once implemented, the CKCC model is expected to run
through 2026. We are presently unable to predict the effects on
our business of the ETC payment model and the voluntary pay-
ment models.

Changes related to the Affordable Care Act

The delivery of health care services and products is highly
regulated in most of the countries in which we operate. Pro-
posals for legislative reforms in these countries are often
introduced to improve access to care, address quality of care
issues, and manage costs of the health care system. In the
U.S., the Trump administration publicly announced its desire
to pursue significant changes to existing health care pro-
grams. This has included the Affordable Care Act (ACA), also
known as Obamacare, which regulates access to health insur-
ance in the U.S.

In October 2017, the Trump administration discontinued making
cost-sharing reduction (CSR) reimbursements to insurers,
arguing that the Congress had failed to appropriate funding for
them. These subsidies reduce deductibles, coinsurance, and
co-payments for individuals and families at or below 250 % of
the federal poverty level. Under the law, insurers are still man-
dated to provide lower out-of-pocket costs for low-income indi-
viduals; as a result, ending CSR payments has caused many
insurers to increase premiums in the individual insurance mar-
ket to offset the loss of the federal support.

In its financial year 2019, 2020, and 2021 budget proposals, the
Trump administration altered course and requested authority
to fund CSR payments. Neither the financial year 2019, 2020,
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nor 2021 CSR budget proposal were ultimately included in
appropriations authorized by the Congress. Although the Biden
Administration has promised major changes in premium tax
credits and cost sharing subsidies, President Biden's first bud-
get request to Congress for fiscal year 2022 does not specifi-
cally include appropriations for CSR payments, and it is too
early to predict which policies Congress will choose to enact
concerning CSR payments.

Throughout 2020, insurers continued to challenge the previ-
ous administration’s non-payment of CSR subsidies in litiga-
tion. On April 27, 2020, the Supreme Court issued its decision
in Main Community Health Options vs. United States, in which
the Supreme Court held that the government was obligated to
make full risk corridor payments. More recently, on August 14,
2020, the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit issued deci-
sions in two cases (Sanford Health Plan v. United States and
Community Health Choice v. United States) holding that the
previous Administration owed CSRs to health plans in 2017 and
directed the Court of Federal Claims to decide the status of
payments owed in 2018 and later, a process that is ongoing. On
June 21, 2021, the Supreme Court denied petitions to review
the decisions of the Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit in
these cases. On January 28, 2021, President Biden issued an
Executive Order on Strengthening Medicaid and the Afford-
able Care Act, which directs the Secretaries of the Depart-
ments of Health and Human Services, Treasury and Labor to,
among other things, review and examine policies or practices.
Further efforts to repeal or revise the ACA may affect the pro-
ject's future prospects in ways which we currently cannot
quantify or predict.

U.S. ballot initiatives
Further U.S. legislation or requlations may be enacted in the

future through legislative and public referendum processes,
which could substantially modify the amounts paid for services
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and products offered by us and our subsidiaries, and mandate
new or alternative operating models and payment models. Bal-
lot initiatives that are successfully introduced at the state level
in the U.S. require the vote of state citizens to directly adopt or
reject proposed new legislation. These ballot initiatives require
a material expenditure of resources by us to participate in pub-
lic discourse regarding the proposed new legislation underlying
the initiatives, which if passed, could further regulate multiple
aspects of our operations including, for instance, clinic staffing
requirements, state inspection requirements, and profit mar-
gins on commercial business. It is also possible that statutes
may be adopted, or regulations may be promulgated in the
future that impose additional eligibility requirements for par-
ticipation in the federal and state health care programs. Such
new legislation or regulations could, depending upon the detail
of the provisions, have positive or adverse effects, possibly
material, on our businesses and results of operations.

COVID-19 relief measures

In some countries, we have received COVID-19-related relief
measures, for instance in the U.S., the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Security Act (CARES Act) has been passed to
mitigate certain adverse financial impacts of the COVID-19 pan-
demic, including in the health care sector. Additional funding
under the CARES Act and other COVID-19 relief provides some
financial support to our business in the U.S. This includes sus-
pension of the 2 % Medicare payment sequestration reduction
to March 31, 2022 (following this, a 1% reduction will become
effective from April 1to June 30, 2022 and the full 2 % seques-
ter will resume from July 1, 2022), and also accelerated and
advance payments of Medicare reimbursement and grants to
cover expenses and mitigate the loss of revenues due to the
COVID-19 pandemic. During the fourth quarter of 2021, we
received, for entities in which we have less than 100 % owner-
ship, new U.S. Department of Health and Human Services fund-
ing (Provider Relief Fund Phase 4) available for health care pro-
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viders affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. However, these
measures may not fully offset any lost revenues and increased
costs we may incur. For further information, see the consoli-
dated financials within “Results of operations, financial posi-
tion, and net assets” starting on PAGE 45 and NOTE 4 H of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Charitable Premium Assistance

On August 18, 2016, CMS issued a request for information (RFI)
seeking public comment about providers' alleged steering of
patients inappropriately to individual plans offered on the
Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act individual health
insurance market. Fresenius Medical Care and other dialysis
providers, commercial insurers, and other industry participants
responded to the RFI, and in that response, we reported that we
do not engage in such steering. On December 14, 2016, CMS
published an Interim Final Rule (IFR) entitled “Medicare Pro-
gram; Conditions for Coverage for ESRD Facilities-Third Party
Payment"” that would amend the Conditions for Coverage for
dialysis providers, like Fresenius Medical Care. The IFR would
have effectively enabled insurers to reject premium payments
made by patients who received grants for individual market
coverage from the American Kidney Fund (AKF) and, therefore,
could have resulted in those patients losing their individual
market health insurance coverage. The loss of individual mar-
ket coverage for these patients would have had a material and
adverse impact on our operating results. On January 25, 2017,
a federal district court in Texas, responsible for litigation initi-
ated by a patient advocacy group and dialysis providers includ-
ing Fresenius Medical Care, preliminarily enjoined CMS from
implementing the IFR (Dialysis Patient Citizens v. Burwell (E.D.
Texas, Sherman Div.)). The preliminary injunction was based on
CMS's failure to follow appropriate notice-and-comment proce-
dures in adopting the IFR. The injunction remains in place and
the court retains jurisdiction over the dispute. On June 22,
2017, CMS requested a stay of proceedings in the litigation
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pending further rulemaking concerning the IFR. Plaintiffs in the
litigation, including Fresenius Medical Care, consented to the
stay, which was granted by the court.

The operation of charitable assistance programs like that of the
AKF is also receiving increased attention by state insurance
regulators and legislators. The result may be a regulatory
framework that differs from state to state. Even in the absence
of the IFR or similar state actions, insurers are likely to con-
tinue efforts to thwart charitable premium assistance to our
patients for individual market plans and other insurance cover-
ages. If successful in a material area or scope of our U.S. oper-
ations, these efforts would have a material adverse impact on
our business and operating results.

OVERALL BUSINESS
DEVELOPMENT

Highlights
Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic

The COVID-19 pandemic resulted in an increased mortality of
our patients in 2020. The excess mortality continued in 2021.

To be able to continue caring for our patients and maintain an
adequate workforce, we implemented a number of measures,
both operational and financial, to protect our patients and
employees through expanded personal protective equipment
protocols and expenses related to surge capacity for patients
suspected or confirmed to have COVID-19.

In addition to introducing comprehensive measures to reduce
infection risks and maintain safe operations in our dialysis cen-
ters, vaccinations are crucial for containing the COVID-19 pan-
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demic. In several countries, we have made our dialysis clinics
available for the direct vaccination of patients and, where
requested, the general public.

Also in 2021, governments in various regions in which we oper-
ate have provided economic assistance programs to address
the consequences of the pandemic on companies and support
healthcare providers and patients.

We experienced a loss of revenue due to the pandemic in cer-
tain parts of our business. Overall, COVID-19 resulted in a nega-
tive impact to net income attributable to shareholders of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA which we estimate to be
around €338 M, net of COVID-19 related governmental funding,
in 2021, primarily driven by COVID-19-related impacts in certain
of our operating segments, as well as various other effects in
connection with the pandemic including, but not limited to,
increased costs for personal protective equipment and labor
costs, partially offset by certain lower operating costs including
patient screening, facilities management, and marketing.

For more information, see the consolidated financials within
“Results of operations, financial position, and net assets” start-
ing on PAGE 45 and NOTE 4 H of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements.

Financing

On May 18, 2021, we issued bonds with an aggregate principal
amount of $1.5 BN (€1.2 BN) across two tranches: a $850 M
(€695 M) bond with a maturity of five years and seven months
and a $650 M (€532 M) bond with a ten-year and seven-month
maturity. The proceeds have been used for general corpo-
rate purposes, including the refinancing of outstanding
indebtedness.
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On July 1, 2021, we entered into a new €2 BN sustainabili-
ty-linked syndicated revolving credit facility with a term of five
years plus two one-year extension options. It can be drawn in
different currencies and will be used as a back-up line for gen-
eral corporate purposes.

FMEZ25 Program

As part of the FME25 Program launched in 2021, Fresenius
Medical Care has announced on November 2, 2021, a new oper-
ating model that will be launched in 2023. The objective is to
better capture identified growth opportunities, thereby gener-
ating additional value, enhance capital allocation, further
exploit the advantages of the Company's vertical integration,
increase transparency both internally and externally, reduce
the administrative burden in terms of cost and speed, and pro-
mote a culture of aqility, innovation, and accountability. The
Company is significantly streamlining its operating model to
create two global segments - Care Delivery and Care Enable-
ment along the relevant future value drivers taking a more cen-
tralized approach. On December 1, 2021, we announced that
these changes in structure will result in changed responsibili-
ties, starting at Management Board level. The new Manage-
ment Board has taken effect on January 1, 2022. For more
information, see section “Changes in management structure”
in chapter “Corporate Governance Fundamentals" starting on
PAGE 81.

Overall, the costs related to the FME25 Program resulted in a
negative impact to net income attributable to shareholders of
Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA in the amount of €49 M
in 2021.
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Comparison of actual business results
with the outlook

The COVID-19 pandemic continued to impact significantly our
business environment in 2021. A significantly higher than
expected impact from COVID-19, inflationary cost increases,
higher personnel expense, and negative remeasurement
effects on the fair value of investments, driven by Humacyte,
weighed heavily on our earnings development. Despite these
challenging headwinds our results for the fiscal year 2021 were
in line with our guidance.

Our 2021 outlook included the effects from COVID-19 and
excluded Special Items. Special Items include costs related to
the FME25 Program and effects that are unusual in nature and
have not been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact
at the time of giving guidance. Accordingly, we have adjusted
for the costs related to the FME25 Program the actual results
dddrelated to the FME25 Program include mainly costs for the
impairment of right-of-use assets and consulting expense.
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The growth rates are based on the results in 2020 excluding
the Special Item of Impairment Loss. A reconciliation of the
results for 2021 and 2020 to the respective results for 2021
and 2020 excluding Special Items can be found at the end of
this section. The outlook for fiscal year 2021 is based on Con-
stant Currency.

We expected revenue growth at a low-to-mid-single-digit per-
centage rate at Constant Currency at the beginning of the
year. We generated revenue of €18.2 BN in 2021 at Constant
Currency (2020: €17.9 BN), resulting in an increase of 2 %,
which is at the lower end of our expectations. We therefore
met our outlook.

The Asia-Pacific Segment and the Latin America Segment in
particular contributed to the expansion of our business. Fur-
ther details on the development of revenue can be found in the
section “Results of operation, financial position, and net assets”
starting on PAGE 45.

T 2.22 RESULTS AND OUTLOOK FOR 2021
IN € M, EXCEPT WHERE OTHERWISE SPECIFIED

Results 2021

Results 2021 Outlook 2021

as reported

excl. Special Items (at Constant Currency, except for ROIC)"23

Revenue 17,619 18,182 growth: low-to-mid-single-digit percentage rate
Revenue growth at Constant Currency 2% 2% growth: low-to-mid-single-digit percentage rate
Operating income 1,852 1,972 decline: mid-teens-to-low-twenties percentage rate
Net income* 969 1,047 decline: high-teens-to-mid-twenties percentage rate
Net income growth at Constant Currency* 14 %) (23 %) decline: high-teens-to-mid-twenties percentage rate
ROIC 49 % 51% 25.0 %

! The outlook for 2021 included the effects from COVID-19 and excluded Special Items. Special Items include costs related to the FME25 Program and effects that are unusual in nature and have not
been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of giving guidance. The growth rates are based on the results in 2020 excluding the Special Item of Impairment Loss.

2 The results for 2021 have been adjusted for Special Items in order to make business performance comparable with the outlook for 2021. A reconciliation of the results for 2021 and 2020 to the
results for 2021 and 2020 excluding Special Items as a basis for the 2021 targets can be found in TABLE 2.23 ON PAGE 45.

3 For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system” starting on PAGE 24.

4 Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.
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T 2.23 OPERATING PERFORMANCE EXCLUDING SPECIAL ITEMS

IN€M

Results 2021 excl.

Currency Special Items
Results Results 2021 excl. translation at Constant Results Results 2020
2021 FME25 Program Special Items effects Currency? 2020 Impairment Loss excl. Special Items
Revenue 17,619 - 17,619 563 18,182 17,859 - 17,859
Operating income 1,852 63 1915 57 1972 2,304 195 2,499
Net income' 969 49 1,018 29 1,047 1164 195 1,359

" Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.

2 For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system” starting on PAGE 24.

We expected operating income excluding Special Items to
decline at a percentage rate in the mid-teens to low twenties at
Constant Currency for the fiscal year 2021. Operating income
excluding Special Items in 2021 was €2.0 BN at Constant Cur-
rency (2020: €2.5 BN), a decrease of 21 %. This is at the lower
end specified in our outlook.

At the beginning of the year, we set a target range for the
decline in net income excluding Special Iltems at a high-teens-
to-mid-twenties percentage rate at Constant Currency. Net
income excluding Special Items for the fiscal year 2021
decreased to €1.0 BN at Constant Currency (2020: €1.4 BN).
This 23 % decrease at Constant Currency is at the lower end of
the range of our expectations.

ROIC excluding Special Items was at 5.1 %. This was in line with
our expectation of at least 5.0 %.

TABLE 2.22 ON PAGE 44 shows the actual results and our outlook
for the fiscal year 2021.

TABLE 2.23 provides a reconciliation of the results for 2021 and
2020 to the respective results for 2021 and 2020 excluding
Special Items as well as a reconciliation of the currency trans-
lation effects on the results for 2021 at Constant Currency.

In 2021, ROIC or ROIC excluding the costs related to the FME25
Program were 4.9 % and 5.1 %. In the calculation of ROIC
excluding the costs related to the FME25 program, the average
invested capital was adjusted by €7 M and the NOPAT by €46 M.
In 2020, ROIC was 5.8 %, or ROIC excluding Impairment Loss
was 6.6 % (see the reconciliation to the calculation of ROIC in
the section “Performance management system - Return on
invested capital (Non-IFRS Measure)” in the chapter “Overview
of the group” starting on PAGE 25.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,
FINANCIAL POSITION,
AND NET ASSETS

The following sections summarize our results of operations,
financial position, and net assets as well as key performance
indicators by reporting segment, as well as Corporate, for the
periods indicated. We prepared the information consistent with
the manner in which management internally disaggregates
financial information to assist in making operating decisions
and evaluating management performance.

In 2020, we updated our Company strategy to leverage our
core strategic competencies in order to achieve our goal of pro-
viding health care for chronically and critically ill patients
across the renal care continuum (Strategy 2025), which encom-
passes new renal care models, value-based care models,
chronic kidney disease, and transplantation as well as future
innovations. Accordingly, we have adjusted the presentation of
consolidated and operating segment data to reflect the
integration of Dialysis and Care Coordination, now referred to
as “Other Health Care Services”, in our business model.
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T 2.24 SEGMENT DATA (INCLUDING CORPORATE)
IN€M

2021 2020
Total revenue
North America Segment 12,088 12,478
EMEA Segment 2,765 2,763
Asia-Pacific Segment 2,010 1,894
Latin America Segment 703 684
Corporate 53 40
TOTAL 17,619 17,859
Operating income
North America Segment 1,644 2,120
EMEA Segment 309 412
Asia-Pacific Segment 350 344
Latin America Segment 12 (157)
Corporate (463) (415)
TOTAL 1,852 2,304
Interest income 73 42
Interest expense (353) (410)
Income tax expense (353) (501)
NET INCOME 1,219 1,435
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO
NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS (250) 271)
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE
TO SHAREHOLDERS OF
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE AG
& CO. KGAA 969 1,164

Therefore, we do not present dialysis and other health care ser-
vices metrics separately. As such, other health care services
information previously presented separately for the North
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America Segment and the Asia-Pacific Segment is now included
within the corresponding health care metric. This presentation
also more closely aligns our external financial reporting with
the manner in which management reviews financial informa-
tion to make operating decisions and evaluate performance of
our business.

Results of operations

For further information on the results of operations of Fresenius
Medical Care, SEE TABLE 2.24.

Revenue and operating income generated in countries outside
the eurozone are subject to the effects of currency fluctua-
tions. TABLE 2.25 summarizes the development of the euro
against the U.S. dollar, as well as the revenue and the operating
income generated in U.S. dollars, as a percentage of the consol-
idated results for the years ended December 31, 2021 and
December 31, 2020.

T2.25 CURRENCY DEVELOPMENT AND PORTION OF TOTAL
REVENUE AND OPERATING INCOME

2021 2020
Currency development of euro against negative positive
the U.S. dollar impact impact
Percentage of revenue generated in
U.S. dollars 69 % 70 %
Percentage of operating income gen-
erated in U.S. dollars 89 % 92 %

Consolidated financial statements

An overwiew of the performance indicators for the consoli-
dated financial statements, SEE TABLE 2.26 ON PAGE 47.
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Health care services revenue decreased by 2 % as compared to
the year ended December 31,2020 (+2 % at Constant Exchange
Rates), driven by a negative impact from foreign currency
translation (-4 %), partially offset by organic growth (+1%)
despite impacts from COVID-19, including, but not limited to,
excess mortality rates among patients due to COVID-19 (“COVID-
19-Related Impacts”) in certain of our operating segments,
which are further described in the discussions of our segments
below, and despite lower reimbursement for calcimimetics, as
well as contributions from acquisitions (+1%). For additional
information regarding COVID-19-Related Impacts, SEE NOTE 4 H
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Dialysis treatments decreased by 1% as a result of negative
Same Market Treatment Growth (-2 %), partially offset by con-
tributions from acquisitions (+1 %). COVID-19-Related Impacts-
contributed significantly to the decreases in treatments and
Same Market Treatment Growth.

At December 31, 2021, we owned, operated, or managed
4,171 dialysis clinics compared to 4,092 dialysis clinics at
December 31, 2020. During the year ended December 31, 2021,
we acquired 61 dialysis clinics, opened 74 dialysis clinics, and
combined or closed 56 clinics. The number of patients treated
in dialysis clinics that we own, operate, or manage decreased
slightly to 345,425 as of December 31, 2021 (December 31,
2020: 346,553).

Health care product revenue remained stable (+2 % at
Constant Exchange Rates), as higher sales of machines for
chronic treatment, home hemodialysis products, and renal
pharmaceuticals were offset by a negative impact from for-
eign currency translation and lower sales of products for
acute care treatments.

Gross profit decreased by 8 % (-6 % at Constant Exchange
Rates), primarily driven by COVID-19-Related Impacts (includ-
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T2.26 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Change in %

Currency
2021 2020 As reported translation effects Constant Currency’

Revenue in €M 17,619 17,859 M 3) 2

Health care services 13,876 1414 @) 4) 2

Health care products 3,743 3,745 0 2) 2
Number of dialysis treatments 52,871,887 53,575,255 1)
Same Market Treatment Growth in %? 1.9) 2.2
Gross profit in € M 5,077 5,537 (8) ) (6)
Gross profit as a % of revenue 28.8 31.0
Selling, general and administrative
costsin€EM 3,096 3134 ) 3) 2
Selling, general and administrative
costs as a % of revenue 17.6 17.5
Operating income in €M 1,852 2,304 (20) 3) an
Operating income margin 10.5 129
Net income attributable to shareholders
of FMC AG & Co. KGaA in €M 969 1164 a7 3) (14)
Basic earnings per share in € 3.31 396 316) 2) 14)

! For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system” starting on PAGE 24.
2 Same market treatment growth represents growth in treatments, adjusted for certain reconciling items including (but not limited to) treatments from acquisitions, closed or sold clinics and

differences in dialysis days (Same Market Treatment Growth).

ing lower U.S. federal relief funding), inflationary cost increases
and higher personnel expense and a negative impact from for-
eign currency translation across all regions as well as higher
implicit price concessions (North America Segment). These
impacts were partially offset by a higher average reimburse-
ment rate driven by an increased number of patients with Medi-
care Advantage coverage and other payor mix effects as well
as increased treatment volumes (including growth from acqui-
sitions) as normalized for COVID-19, both within in the North
America Segment.

Selling, general and administrative (SG&A) expense decreased
by 1% (+2 % at Constant Exchange Rates), primarily driven by
the absence in 2021 of the prior year Impairment Loss in the
Latin America Segment (SEE NOTE 2 A) of the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements) and a positive impact from for-
eign currency translation across all regions. The decrease was
partially offset by remeasurement effects on the fair value of
investments in the current year, driven by our investment in
Humacyte, and unfavorable impacts from gains on the sale of
vascular and cardiovascular clinics in the prior year (North
America Segment), costs associated with the FME25 Program
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(North America Segment, EMEA Segment and Corporate),
higher personnel expense in the North America Segment and
the Latin America Segment and COVID-19-related impacts
(including lower U.S. federal relief funding) (North America
Segment, EMEA Segment and Asia-Pacific Segment).

Research and development expenses increased by 14 % to
€221 M from €194 M. The increase was largely driven by in-cen-
ter and critical care program development, higher amortization
of capitalized development costs as well as activities in the field
of regenerative medicine and research and development activ-
ities in the area of home dialysis, partially offset by a positive
impact from foreign currency translation.

Income from equity method investees decreased by 2 % to
€92 M from €95 M. The decrease was primarily driven by prior
year income from the sale of a license for certain renal pharma-
ceuticals, partially offset by a prior year impairment for a
license held by Vifor Fresenius Medical Care Renal Pharma Ltd.
based on an unfavorable clinical trial.

Operating income decreased by 20 % (-17 % at Constant
Exchange Rates), largely driven by the decrease in gross
profit as well as a negative impact from foreign currency
translation, partially offset by the decrease in SG&A expenses,
as discussed above.

Net interest expense decreased by 24 % to €280 M from
€368 M, primarily due to lower interest rates on lease liabilities
and refinancing activities (including the issuance of bonds at
lower interest rates), a release of interest accruals related to
uncertain tax treatments, lower variable interest rates, a posi-
tive impact from foreign currency translation and the recogni-
tion of interest related to royalty receivables.

Income tax expense decreased by 30 % to €353 M from €501 M.
The effective tax rate decreased to 22.4 % from 25.9 % for the
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same period of 2020 largely driven by the prior year non-de-
ductible Impairment Loss (SEE NOTE 2 A) and several favorable
prior year impacts, including impacts related to changes in tax
risk estimates, and a higher portion of tax-free income attribut-
able to noncontrolling interests, partially offset by an increase
of non-deductible expenses, and unrecognized deferred tax
assets in multiple countries.

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests decreased
by 8 % (-5 % at Constant Currency) to €250 M from €271 M
due to lower earnings in entities in which we have less than
100 % ownership and a positive impact from foreign currency
translation, partially offset by amounts received under Pro-
vider Relief Fund Phase 4 relief funding attributable to noncon-
trolling interests.

Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical
Care AG & Co. KGaA decreased by 17 % (-14 % at Constant
Currency) to €969 M from €1,164 M as a result of the com-
bined effects of the items discussed above as well as a nega-
tive impact from foreign currency translation. The effect of
COVID-19-related impacts, including lower U.S. federal relief
funding as compared to the prior year, was estimated to be
around €338 M in reduced net income attributable to share-
holders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA for the year
ended December 31, 2021 as compared to €49 M for the year
ended December 31, 2020.

Basic earnings per share decreased by 16 % (-14 % at Constant
Exchange Rates), primarily due to the decrease in net income
attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co.
KGaA described above coupled with a negative impact from
foreign currency translation, partially offset by a decrease in
the average weighted number of shares outstanding for the
period. The average weighted number of shares outstanding
for the period decreased to approximately 2929 M in 2021
(2020:294.1 M), primarily as a result of our share buy-back pro-
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gram which concluded on April 1, 2020 (SEE NOTE 17 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements included in this
report), partially offset by the exercise of stock options.

We employed 122,909 people (full-time equivalents) as of
December 31, 2021 (December 31, 2020: 125,364). This 2 %
decrease is largely due to a labor shortage for employees in the
health care sector of the North America Segment, including
production and clinical staff, due to COVID-19 and a reductionin
the number of temporary employees in the North America Seg-
ment who were hired to manage the COVID-19 pandemic.

The following discussions pertain to our operating and report-
able segments and the measures we use to manage these
segments.

North America Segment

Information about performance indicators for the North Amer-
ica Segment can be found in TABLE 2.27.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021

Revenue

Health care services revenue decreased by 3 % (remained sta-
ble at Constant Exchange Rates), mainly due to a negative
impact from foreign currency translation (-3 %) and a negative
impact from a reversal of a revenue recognition adjustment for
accounts receivable in legal dispute which was beneficial in the
prior year (-1 %), partially offset by contributions from acquisi-
tions (+1%). Including the effects from COVID-19-related
impacts and lower reimbursement for calcimimetics, organic
growth was flat (O %) as compared to the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2020.

Dialysis treatments decreased by 2 % largely due to negative
Same Market Treatment Growth (-3 %), partially offset by con-
tributions from acquisitions (+1%). At December 31, 2021,
209,291 patients (December 31, 2020: 210,260) were treated in
the 2,695 dialysis clinics (December 31, 2020: 2,639) that we
own or operate in the North America Segment. COVID-19-Re-
lated Impacts contributed significantly to the decreases in
treatments and Same Market Treatment Growth.

T 2.27 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE NORTH AMERICA SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2021 2020 As reported translation effects Constant Currency'
Revenue in €M 12,088 12,478 3) 3) 0
Health care services 1,020 1,364 3) 3) 0
Health care products 1,068 114 4) 3) Q)
Number of dialysis treatments 32,334,280 32,843,592 2)
Same Market Treatment Growth in % (2.5) 1.6
Operating income in €M 1,644 2,120 (22) ) (20)
Operating income margin in % 13.6 17.0

! For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system” starting on PAGE 24.
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Health care product revenue decreased by 4 % (-1 % at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), driven by a negative impact from for-
eign currency translation and lower sales of products for acute
care treatments, partially offset by higher sales of home hemo-
dialysis products, in-center disposables, machines for chronic
treatment, and acute cardiopulmonary products.

Operating income

Operating income decreased by 22 % (-20 % at Constant
Exchange Rates), primarily related to unfavorable effects from
COVID-19-related impacts (including lower U.S. federal relief
funding), inflationary cost increases, higher personnel expense,
the remeasurement effect on the fair value of investments
(driven by Humacyte), higher implicit price concessions, a neg-
ative impact from foreign currency translation, and unfavor-
able business development in our health care product business,
partially offset by a higher average reimbursement rate driven
by an increased number of patients with Medicare Advantage
coverage and other payor mix effects as well as increased
treatment volumes (including growth from acquisitions) as nor-
malized for COVID-19.

EMEA Segment

Information about performance indicators for the EMEA Seg-
ment can be found in TABLE 2.28.

Revenue

Health care service revenue increased by 1% (+2 % at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), largely due to contributions from acqui-
sitions (+2 %) and organic growth (+1%) despite COVID-19
related impacts, partially offset by the effect of closed or sold
clinics (-1 %) and a negative impact resulting from foreign cur-
rency translation (-1 %).
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T 2.28 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE EMEA SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2021 2020 As reported translation effects Constant Currency’
Revenue in €M 2,765 2,763 0 Q)] 1
Health care services 1,379 1,365 1 Q)] 2
Health care products 1,386 1,398 ) ) 0
Number of dialysis treatments 9,885,319 10,189,373 3)
Same Market Treatment Growth in % 3.2) 1.4
Operating income in €M 309 412 (25) 0 (25)
Operating income margin in % 1n.2 149

' For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section *

Dialysis treatments decreased by 3 % mainly due to negative
Same Market Treatment Growth (-3 %) and the effect of closed
or sold clinics (-1%), partially offset by contributions from
acquisitions (+1%). As of December 31, 2021, 65,599 patients,
a decrease of 1% (December 31, 2020: 66,008), were treated
at the 821 dialysis clinics (December 31, 2020: 804) that we
own, operate or manage in the EMEA Segment. COVID-19-re-
lated impacts contributed significantly to the decreases in
treatments and Same Market Treatment Growth.

Health care product revenue decreased by 1% (remained sta-
ble at Constant Exchange Rates), primarily due to lower sales
of in-center disposables, a negative impact from foreign cur-
rency translation and lower sales of peritoneal dialysis prod-
ucts, partially offset by higher sales of machines for chronic
treatment, home hemodialysis products, renal pharmaceuti-
cals, and acute cardiopulmonary products.

Operating income

Operating income decreased by 25 % (-25 % at Constant
Exchange Rates), mainly due to inflationary cost increases,

Performance management system" starting on PAGE 24.

unfavorable effects from COVID-19-related impacts, costs asso-
ciated with the FME25 Program, unfavorable foreign currency
transaction effects and higher bad debt expense, partially off-
set by reimbursement rate increases in certain countries.

Asia-Pacific Segment

Information about performance indicators for the Asia-Pacific
Segment can be found in TABLE 2.29 ON PAGE 50.

Revenue

Health care services revenue increased by 7 % (+10 % at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), largely as a result of organic growth,
including a recovery in elective procedures, (+9 %) and contri-
butions from acquisitions (+2 %), partially offset by a negative
impact from foreign currency translation (-3 %) and the effect
of closed or sold clinics (-1 %).

Dialysis treatments increased by 2 % mainly due to Same Mar-
ket Treatment Growth (+5 %), partially offset by the effect of
closed or sold clinics (-3 %). As of December 31, 2021, 33,760
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patients, an increase of 2 % (December 31, 2020: 33,106) were
treated at the 405 dialysis clinics (December 31, 2020: 400)
that we own, operate, or manage in the Asia-Pacific Segment.
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Health care product revenue increased by 5 % (+4 % at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), mainly due to higher sales of machines
for chronic treatment, in-center disposables, and a positive
impact from foreign currency translation, partially offset by
lower sales of products for acute care treatments.

T2.29 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE ASIA-PACIFIC SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2021 2020 As reported translation effects Constant Currency’
Revenue in €M 2,010 1,894 6 Q)] 7
Health care services 942 876 7 3) 10
Health care products 1,068 1,018 5 1 4
Number of dialysis treatments 4,766,472 4,660,875 2
Same Market Treatment Growth in % 4.8 8.5
Operating income in €M 350 344 2 [©) 3
Operating income margin in % 17.4 18.1

" For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system” starting on PAGE 24.

T2.30 PERFORMANCE INDICATORS FOR THE LATIN AMERICA SEGMENT

Change in %

Currency
2021 2020 As reported translation effects Constant Currency’
Revenue in €M 703 684 3 13) 16
Health care services 499 485 3 (15) 18
Health care products 204 199 2 9) 1
Number of dialysis treatments 5,885,816 5,881,415 0
Same Market Treatment Growth in % a.n 21
Operating income in €M 12 @157) n.a. n.a.
Operating income margin in % 1.7 (22.9)

! For further information on Constant Currency, see the chapter “Overview of the Group” section “Performance management system" starting on PAGE 24.
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Operating income

Operating income increased by 2% (+3 % at Constant
Exchange Rates), primarily due to business growth and a
favorable effect from a recovery in elective procedures in cer-
tain countries, partially offset by inflationary cost increases,
the prior year effect of a gain from the deconsolidation of
clinics, and unfavorable foreign currency transaction and
translation effects.

Latin America Segment

Information about performance indicators for the Latin Amer-
ica Segment can be found in TABLE 2.30.

Revenue

Health care service revenue increased by 3 % (+18 % at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), primarily as a result of organic growth
(+17 %) and contributions from acquisitions (+2 %), partially
offset by a negative impact from foreign currency translation
(-15 %) and the effect of closed or sold clinics (-1 %).

Dialysis treatments remained relatively stable period over
period, as contributions from acquisitions (+3 %) were offset
by the effect of closed or sold clinics (-1%), negative Same
Market Treatment Growth (-1%), and a decrease in dialysis
days (-1%). As of December 31, 2021, 36,775 patients, a
decrease of 1% (December 31, 2020: 37,179), were treated at
the 250 dialysis clinics (December 31, 2020: 249) that we own,
operate, or manage in the Latin America Segment. COVID-19-
related impacts contributed significantly to the decrease in
Same Market Treatment Growth.

Health care product revenue increased by 2 % (+11 % at Con-
stant Exchange Rates), primarily due to higher sales of in-cen-
ter disposables, other health care products, and products for
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acute care treatments, partially offset by a negative impact
from foreign currency translation.

Operating income

Operating income increased to a profit of €12 M from a loss of
€157 M, primarily due to the absence in 2021 of the prior year
Impairment Loss in the amount of €195 M and favorable foreign
currency transaction effects, partially offset by inflationary
cost increases.

Financial position

Our investment and financing strategy did not change sub-
stantially in the past fiscal year as our business model, which
is based on stable and high cash flows, allows for a reasonable
proportion of debt. We regard our refinancing options as
being very stable and flexible. During the past fiscal year, the
focus of our investing activities was on our health care ser-
vices business.

Financing strategy

Our financing strategy aims at ensuring financial flexibility,
managing financial risks, and optimizing our financing cost. We
ensure our financial flexibility through maintaining sufficient
liquidity. Our refinancing risks are limited due to our balanced
maturity profile, which is characterized by a wide range of
maturities of up to 2031. Corporate bonds in euro and U.S. dol-
lar form the basis of our mid- and long-term financing instru-
ments. Corporate bonds in euro are issued under our €10 BN
debt issuance program. For short-term financing, we use our
€1.5 BN commercial paper program, Accounts Receivable Facil-
ity in U.S. dollar, and bilateral credit lines. The €2 BN Syndicated
Credit Facility, signed in July 2021, serves as a backup facility
and was undrawn at December 31, 2021.
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FINANCING MIX
IN€M

C 2.31

TOTAL DEBT AND LEASE

LIABILITIES AT DECEMBER 31, 2021:

13,320

(785)
5%
(715)

B sonps
Bl COMMERCIAL PAPER PROGRAM

B otHER

. LEASE LIABILITIES'

" Includes lease liabilities with related and unrelated parties.

CHART 2.31 summarizes our main financing debt mix as of
December 31, 2021.

In our long-term financial planning, we focus primarily on the
net leverage ratio, a non-IFRS measure (see section "“Perfor-
mance management system” in the chapter “Overview of the
group” starting on PAGE 24). Our self-set target for the net
leverage ratio is less than 3.5, which management considers
appropriate for the Company. TABLE 2.32 shows the reconcilia-

T2.32 RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED EBITDA AND
NET LEVERAGE RATIO TO THE MOST DIRECTLY
COMPARABLE IFRS FINANCIAL MEASURE
IN € M, EXCEPT FOR NET LEVERAGE RATIO

December 31, December 31,

2021 2020
Debt and lease liabilities’ 13,320 12,380
Minus: Cash and cash equivalents (1,482) (1,082)
NET DEBT 11,838 1,298
Net income 1,219 1,435
Income tax expense 353 501
Interest income (73) (42)
Interest expense 353 410
Depreciation and amortization 1,586 1,587
Adjustments? 125 249
ADJUSTED EBITDA 3,563 4,140
NET LEVERAGE RATIO 3.3 2.7

' Debt includes the following balance sheet line items: short-term debt, current portion of long-
term debt and long-term debt, less current portion.

2 Acquisitions and divestitures made for the last twelve months with a purchase price above a
€50 M threshold as defined in the Syndicated Credit Facility (2021: €13 M), non-cash charges,
primarily related to pension expense (2021: €49 M; 2020: €50 M), impairment loss (2021:
€38 M; 2020: €199 M), and costs related to the FME25 Program (2021: €25 M).

tion of net debt and adjusted EBITDA and the calculation of the
net leverage ratio as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The key financial risks we are exposed to include foreign
exchange risk and interest rate risk. To manage these risks, we
enter into various hedging transactions that have been autho-
rized by the Management Board. Counterparty risks are man-
aged via internal credit limits, taking into account the external
credit ratings of the respective hedging counterparty. We do
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not use financial instruments for trading or other speculative
purposes (for liquidity and financing risks, see the section
“Other risks" in the chapter “Risks and opportunities report”
on PAGE 72 as well as NOTE 23 of the notes to the consolidated
financial statements).

Fresenius SE, under a service agreement, conducts treasury
services for us under the control of a single centralized depart-
ment. We have established guidelines for risk management pro-
cedures and controls which govern the use of financial instru-
ments. These guidelines include a clear segregation of duties
with regards to execution on the one hand and administration,
accounting, and controlling on the other.

We also utilize Fresenius SE's cash management system as well
as an unsecured loan agreement with Fresenius SE (SEE NOTE 13
of the notes to the consolidated financial statements).

We are rated investment grade by the three leading rating
agencies, Moody's, Standard & Poor's, and Fitch. For further
information on our credit ratings, SEE NOTE 18 of the notes to
the consolidated financial statements. A rating is not a recom-
mendation to buy, sell, or hold securities of the Company, and
may be subject to suspension, change, or withdrawal at any
time by the assigning rating agency.

Effect of off-balance-sheet financing
instruments on our financial position,
assets, and liabilities

We are not involved in off-balance-sheet transactions that have
or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future
effect on our financial condition, changes in financial condition,
revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, cash
requirements, or capital resources.
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Sources of liquidity

Our primary sources of liquidity are typically cash provided by
operating activities, cash provided by short-term debt, pro-
ceeds from the issuance of long-term debt, and divestitures. We
require this capital primarily to finance working capital needs,
fund acquisitions, operate clinics, develop free-standing renal
dialysis clinics, and other health care facilities, purchase equip-
ment for existing or new renal dialysis clinics and production
sites, repay debt and pay dividends (see “Net cash provided by
(used in) investing activities” and “Net cash provided by (used
in) financing activities” below).

As of December 31, 2021, our available borrowing capacity
under unutilized credit facilities amounted to approximately
€2.5 BN, including €2.0 BN under the Syndicated Credit
Facility, which we maintain as a backup for general corporate
purposes.

At December 31, 2021, we had cash and cash equivalents of
€1,482 M (December 31, 2020: €1,082 M).

Free cash flow (Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi-
ties, after capital expenditures, before acquisitions and invest-
ments) is a Non-IFRS Measure and is reconciled to net cash pro-
vided by (used in) operating activities, the most directly
comparable IFRS measure (see the section “Performance man-
agement system" in the chapter "Overview of the group" start-
ing on PAGE 24).

TABLE 2.33 shows the cash flow performance indicators for
2021 and 2020 and reconciles free cash flow and free cash flow
in percent of revenue to net cash provided by (used in) operat-
ing activities and net cash provided by (used in) operating
activities in percent of revenue, respectively.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021

T2.33 CASH FLOW MEASURES

IN€M
2021 2020

Revenue 17,619 17,859
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 2,489 4,233

Capital expenditures (854) (1,052)

Proceeds from sale of property,

plant, and equipment 25 16
Capital expenditures, net (829) (1,036)
Free cash flow 1,660 3,197
Net cash provided by (used in) oper-
ating activities in % of revenue 1441 23.7
Free cash flow in % of revenue 9.4 17.9

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

During 2021, net cash provided by operating activities was
€2,489 M (2020: €4,233 M). Net cash provided by operating
activities accounted for 14 % of revenue in 2021 (2020: 24 %).
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities is impacted
by the profitability of our business, the development of our
working capital, principally inventories, receivables and cash
outflows that occur due to a number of specific items as dis-
cussed below. The decrease in net cash provided by operating
activities in 2021 was driven by non-recurring payments
received in 2020 under the Medicare Accelerated and Advance
Payment Program in the amount of $1,050 M (€919 M) (as well
as the recoupment of these advanced payments, the majority
of which began in the second quarter of 2021, in the amount of
$603 M (€510 M) during 2021), and other COVID-19 relief,
including lower tax payments in the prior year within the North
America Segment.
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The profitability of our business depends significantly on reim-
bursement rates for our services. Approximately 79 % of our
revenue is generated by providing health care services, a major
portion of which is reimbursed by either public health care
organizations or private insurers. In 2021, approximately 27 %
of our consolidated revenue was attributable to reimburse-
ments from U.S. federal health care benefit programs, such as
Medicare and Medicaid. Legislative changes could affect Medi-
care reimbursement rates for a significant portion of the ser-
vices we provide as well as the scope of Medicare coverage. A
decrease in reimbursement rates or the scope of coverage
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
position, and results of operations and thus on our capacity to
generate cash flow.

In recent years, the stability of reimbursement in the U.S. has
been affected by (i) the implementation of the ESRD PPS in
January 2011, (ii) across-the-board spending cuts in payments
to Medicare providers by the U.S. federal government, com-
monly referred to as “U.S. Sequestration” (temporarily sus-
pended from May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2022), and (iii) the
phased reduction to the ESRD PPS rate to account for the
decline in utilization of certain drugs and biologicals associated
with dialysis pursuant to the American Taxpayer Relief Act of
2012, as subsequently modified under the Protecting Access to
Medicare Act of 2014.

We intend to continue to address our current cash and financ-
ing requirements using net cash provided by operating activi-
ties, issuances under our commercial paper program (SEE
NOTE 13 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements),
as well as from the use of our Accounts Receivable Facility and
bilateral credit lines. The Syndicated Credit Facility is also avail-
able for backup financing needs. In addition, to finance acquisi-
tions or meet other needs, we expect to complete long-term
financing arrangements, such as the issuance of bonds.
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Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities depends on
the collection of accounts receivable. Commercial customers
and government institutions generally have different payment
cycles. Lengthening their payment cycles could have a material
adverse effect on our capacity to generate cash flow. In addi-
tion, we could face difficulties enforcing and collecting accounts
receivable under the legal systems of and due to the economic
conditions in some countries. Accounts receivable balances,
net of expected credit losses, represented Days Sales Out-
standing (DSO) of 62 days at December 31, 2021, an increase as
compared to 50 days at December 31, 2020.

DSO by segment is calculated by dividing the respective seg-
ment's accounts and other receivables from unrelated parties
less contract liabilities, converted to euro using the average
exchange rate for the period presented, less any sales or val-
ue-added tax included in the receivables, by the average daily
sales for the last twelve months of that segment, converted to
euro using the average exchange rate for the period. Receiv-
ables and revenues are adjusted for amounts related to acqui-
sitions and divestitures made within the reporting period with
a purchase price above a €50 M threshold, consistent with the
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respective adjustments in the determination of adjusted
EBITDA (see section "“Performance management system” in
the chapter "Overview of the Group” starting on PAGE 24).

The development of DSO by reporting segment is shown in the
TABLE 2.34.

Due to the fact that a large portion of our reimbursement is
provided by public health care organizations and private
insurers, we expect that most of our accounts receivable will
be collectible.

For information regarding litigation exposure as well as ongo-
ing and future tax audits, SEE NOTE 22 of the notes to the con-
solidated financial statements.

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Net cash used in investing activities was €1,196 M for 2021
(2020: €1,335 M). TABLE 2.35 ON PAGE 54 shows our capital
expenditures for property, plant and equipment, and capital-

T2.34 DEVELOPMENT OF DAYS SALES OUTSTANDING

IN DAYS
December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 Increase / decrease primarily driven by:
CMS's recoupment of advanced payments received in 2020
under the Medicare Accelerated and Advance Payment Program
and a shift in patients to Medicare Advantage plans which have
North America Segment 44 26 longer payment cycles
EMEA Segment 88 90 Improvement of payment collections in the region
Asia-Pacific Segment 102 10 Improvement of payment collections in the region
Latin America Segment 130 134 Improvement of payment collections in the region
FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
AG & CO. KGAA AVERAGE
DAYS SALES OUTSTANDING 62 50
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ized development costs, net of proceeds from sales of property,
plant and equipment as well as acquisitions, investments and
purchases of intangible assets for 2021 and 2020.

The majority of our capital expenditures were used for main-
taining existing clinics and centers, capitalization of machines
provided to our customers, capitalization of certain develop-
ment costs, equipping new clinics and centers, and IT imple-
mentation costs. Capital expenditures accounted for approxi-
mately 5 % of total revenue in 2021 (2020: 6 %).

Investments in 2021 were primarily comprised of purchases of
debt securities and equity investments. In 2021, we received
€197 M from divestitures. These divestitures were mainly
related to the divestment of debt securities. Acquisitions in
2021 relate primarily to the purchase of dialysis clinics.

Investments in 2020 were primarily comprised of purchases of
debt securities. In 2020, we received €57 M from divestitures.
These divestitures were mainly related to the divestment of
debt securities and certain research & development invest-
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ments. Acquisitions in 2020 relate primarily to the purchase of
dialysis clinics.

In 2022, we anticipate capital expenditures of €0.9, to €1.1 BN
and expect to make acquisitions and investments, excluding
investments in debt securities, of approximately €0.4, to
€0.6 BN.

Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities

Net cash used in financing activities was €1,024 M in 2021
(2020: €2,664 M).

In 2021, cash was mainly used in the repayments of short-term
debt from unrelated parties, repayment of long-term debt
(including the repayment at maturity of bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of $650 M (€473 M as of the date of issuance)
and €300 M, as well as the early repayment of the U.S. dollar
term loan 2017 /2022 in the amount of $1,050 M (E860 M as of
the date of repayment) and the euro term loan 2017 /2022 in

T2.35 CAPITAL EXPENDITURES (NET), ACQUISITIONS, INVESTMENTS, PURCHASES OF INTANGIBLE ASSETS

AND INVESTMENTS IN DEBT SECURITIES

IN€M
Capital expenditures, Acquisitions, investments, purchases of intangi-
net ble assets, and investments in debt securities

2021 2020 2021 2020
North America Segment 399 535 476 237
EMEA Segment 106 126 28 38
Asia-Pacific Segment 46 74 7 20
Latin America Segment 34 32 17 34
Corporate 244 269 35 26
TOTAL 829 1,036 563 355
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the amount of €245 M, both under the Amended 2012 Credit
Agreement), the repayment of lease liabilities (including lease
liabilities from related parties), payment of dividends, and dis-
tributions to non-controlling interests, partially offset by pro-
ceeds from short-term debt (including borrowings under our
commercial paper program) and proceeds from long-term debt
(including proceeds from the issuance of bonds in an aggregate
principal amount of $1,500 M (€1,227 M)). SEE NOTE 14 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

In 2020, cash was mainly used in the repayment of short-term
debt (including repayments under our commercial paper pro-
gram and short-term debt from related parties) and long-term
debt (including the repayment of Convertible Bonds at matu-
rity in January 2020, the early repayment of the euro term
loan 2017 /2020 under the Amended 2012 Credit Agreement
(originally due on July 30, 2020) on May 29, 2020 and the
repayment of bonds (originally due on October 15, 2020) on
July 17, 2020), the repayment of lease liabilities (including lease
liabilities from related parties), repayments of the Accounts
Receivable Facility, distributions to non-controlling interests,
shares repurchased as part of a share buy-back program as
well as payments of dividends, partially offset by proceeds
from long-term debt (including proceeds from the issuance of
bonds in an aggregate principal amount of €1,250 M on May 29,
2020 and the issuance of bonds in an aggregate principal
amount of $1,000 M on September 16, 2020) and short-term
debt (including short-term debt from related parties).

On May 26, 2021, we paid a dividend of €1.34 per share for 2020
(€1.20 per share for 2019 paid in 2020). The total dividend pay-
ment was €392 M in 2021 (2020: €351 M).

CHART 2.36 ON PAGE 55 summarizes our significant long-term
financing instruments as well as their maturity structure at
December 31, 2021.
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c2.36 MATURITY STRUCTURE OF OUR SIGNIFICANT LONG-TERM FINANCING INSTRUMENTS

(BASED ON NOMINAL AMOUNTS OUTSTANDING)
IN€M

441

618 650 750

858

1,457

== Euro bonds U.S. dollar bonds

T 2.37 AVAILABLE SOURCES OF LIQUIDITY

IN€EM
Expiration per period of

Less than Over

Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years

Accounts Receivable Facility' 784 - 784 - -
Syndicated Credit Facility 2,000 - - 2,000 -
Other unused lines of credit 477 477 - - -
3,261 477 784 2,000 -

' Subject to availability of sufficient accounts receivable that meet funding criteria. At December 31, 2021, the Company had letters of credit outstanding in the amount of $13 M (E11 M),
which reduces the availability under the Accounts Receivable Facility to the amount shown in this table.
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The bonds issued by Fresenius Medical Care US Finance Il, Inc. in
the amount of $700 M (€533 M as of the date of issuance on Jan-
uary 26, 2012) and included in the “2022" column in the chart on
the left were redeemed at maturity on January 31, 2022.

For a description of our short-term debt, SEE NOTE 13 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements. For a descrip-
tion of our long-term sources of liquidity, SEE NOTE 14 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

TABLE 2.37 summarizes our available sources of liquidity at
December 31, 2021.

An additional source of liquidity is our commercial paper pro-
gram, under which up to €1,500 M of short-term notes can be
issued on a flexible and continuous basis. As of December 31,
2021, we utilized €715 M and as of December 31, 2020, we uti-
lized €20 M of the commercial paper program.

At December 31, 2021, we had short-term debt from unrelated
parties (excluding the current portion of long-term debt) and
short-term debt from related parties in the total amount of
€1,256 M.

For information regarding our Syndicated Credit Facility, bonds,
and the Accounts Receivable Facility, SEE NOTE 14 of the notes
to the consolidated financial statements. For information
regarding other contractual commitments, SEE NOTE 21 of the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Although current and future economic conditions could
adversely affect our business and our profitability, we believe
that we are well positioned to continue to grow our business
while meeting our financial obligations as they come due.
Because of the non-discretionary nature of the health care ser-
vices we provide, the need for health care products utilized to
provide such services and the availability of government reim-



GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT

General information Outlook

Overview of the Group Risks and Opportunities Report

Economic Report Corporate Governance fundamentals

Subsequent events

bursement for a substantial portion of our health care services,
our business is generally not cyclical. A substantial portion of
our accounts receivable is generated by governmental payors.
While payment and collection practices vary significantly
between countries and even between agencies within one
country, government payors usually represent low to moderate
credit risk. However, limited or expensive access to capital
could make it more difficult for our customers to do business
with us, or to do business generally, which could adversely
affect our business by causing our customers to reduce or
delay their purchases of our health care products (see section
“Results of operations” on PAGE 46). If the conditions in the
capital markets worsen, this could increase our financing costs
and limit our financial flexibility.

At our Annual General Meeting scheduled to be held on May 12,
2022, our General Partner and our Supervisory Board will pro-
pose to the shareholders a dividend of €1.35 per share for 2021,
payable in 2022 (for 2020 paid in 2021: €1.34). The total
expected dividend payment is approximately €396 M com-
pared to dividends of €392 M for 2020 paid in 2021.

Our principal financing needs in 2022 relate to repayments of
bonds that were repaid at maturity in January 2022. The divi-
dend payment in May 2022, anticipated capital expenditures,
and further acquisition payments are expected to be covered
by our cash flow, including the use of existing credit facilities
and, if required, additional debt financing. We currently have
sufficient flexibility to meet our financing needs in the near
future. Generally, we believe that we will have sufficient financ-
ing to achieve our goals in the future and to continue to pro-
mote our growth.

Net assets

Our total consolidated assets in the past fiscal year amounted
to €34,367 M, an increase of €2,678 M (8 %) over the prior
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year. In addition to a 6 % positive impact resulting from foreign
currency translation, total assets increased by 2% to
€32,436 M from €31,689 M.

Non-current assets increased by €1,986 M (8 %) to €26,400 M
in 2021 and represented 77 % of total assets (2020: 77 %). This
increase includes a positive effect from foreign currency trans-
lation of 6 %. Non-current assets increased primarily due to an
increase in goodwill related to acquisitions as well as an
increase in other non-current assets mainly as a result of roy-
alty receivables and investments in debt securities.

Current assets increased by 10 % to €7,967 M, including a posi-
tive effect from foreign currency translation of 5 %. This
increase was mainly a result of increased cash and cash equiv-
alents due to increased security holdings. Additionally, trade
accounts and other receivables from unrelated parties
increased related to timing of payments. The increase was par-
tially offset by a decrease in other current assets, primarily due
to decreased advanced payments for COVID-19-related per-
sonal protective equipment.

Total liabilities amounted to €20,388 M at December 31, 2021,
an increase of €1,030 M (5 %) from €19,358 M in 2020, includ-
ing a positive effect from foreign currency translation of 5 %.
This increase was primarily the result of an increase in short-
term debt, partially offset by the reduction in long-term debt
(including the current portion of long-term debt) and in other
non-current term liabilities. The decrease in other non-current
liabilities was primarily driven by CMS's recoupment of
advanced payments received in 2020 under the Medicare
Accelerated and Advance Payment Program, which are
recorded as contract liabilities.

Current liabilities accounted for €1924 M of our debt, from
€1,088 M in the prior year, an increase of €836 M (77 %),
including a positive effect from foreign currency translation of
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5 %. Furthermore, the increase resulted from proceeds from
short-term debt (including borrowings under our commercial
paper program), as well as the reclassification of bonds denom-
inated in U.S. dollar to the current portion of long-term debt, as
these will mature in 2022. The increase was partially offset by
the repayment of bonds denominated in U.S. dollar and in euro
from the current portion of long-term debt.

Long-term debt decreased to €6,647 M from €6,800 M in the
prior year, a decrease of €153 M (2 %), including a positive
effect from foreign currency translation of 4 %. Furthermore,
the decrease of long-term debt was mainly a result of the
repayment of the U.S. dollar term loan and euro term loan
under the Amended 2012 Credit Agreement as well as the
reclassification of bonds denominated in U.S. dollar to the cur-
rent portion of long-term debt. It was partially offset by the
proceeds from the issuance of bonds with a total volume of
$1,500 M (€1,227 M).

Shareholders’ equity increased by 13 % to €13,979 M. The
increase was driven by a positive effect from foreign currency
translation of 7 % and net income as well as the purchase/sale
of noncontrolling interests. It was partially offset by dividend
payments and distributions to non-controlling interests as well
as changes in fair value of put option liabilities recognized in
other comprehensive income. The equity to assets ratio
increased to 41 % at December 31, 2021 from 39 % at Decem-
ber 31, 2020, primarily driven by an increase in equity and a
decrease in long-term debt (including the current portion of
long-term debt). This was partially offset by an increase in
short-term debt.

At Group level, ROIC decreased to 4.9 % at December 31, 2021
from 5.8 % at December 31, 2020, driven by the decline in
operating income. Excluding the 2020 Impairment Loss in the
Latin America Segment as well as excluding both the 2020
Impairment Loss in the Latin America Segment and the Effect
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from IFRS 16, ROIC was 4.9 % and 5.5 %, respectively, at
December 31, 2021 (2020: 6.6 % and 7.5 %, respectively) (see
reconciliation in the section “Performance management sys-
tem - Return on invested capital (Non-IFRS Measure)" in the
chapter “Overview of the group” starting on PAGE 25). Good-
will, included in the item "Invested capital", has a significant
impact on the calculation of ROIC. The weighted average cost
of capital (WACC), including weighted risk premiums for coun-
try risks, was 4.9 %.

For supplementary information on capital management and
our capital structure, SEE NOTE 18 of the notes to the consoli-
dated financial statements.
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Management's general assessment

Throughout 2021, COVID-19 has significantly impacted our
patients’ and employees' lives as well as Fresenius Medical Care
as a company. Although excess mortality among our patients in
the fourth quarter had moderated, the accumulated impact of
COVID-19 weighed heavier on our earnings development than
we had anticipated in the beginning of 2021. Given these chal-
lenging headwinds, we are proud that we have continuously
been there for our patients and, on the back of this, were able
to deliver on our 2021 guidance.

Despite the ongoing impact of the pandemic and an increas-
ingly inflationary cost environment, we target to return to
earnings growth in 2022. At the same time, we will continue to
execute on the key priorities of our Strategy 2025, advancing
on our transformational FME25 program as well as progressing
on our Sustainability agenda.

FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE 2021
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SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

Refer to NOTE 27 of the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

OUTLOOK

The outlook describes how Fresenius Medical Care
expects to perform in fiscal year 2022. These
statements take into account all events known

at the time the financial statements were
prepared which could affect the development

of our business in 2022.

BUSINESS POLICY

Fresenius Medical Care is the world's leading provider of prod-
ucts and services for individuals with renal diseases based on
publicly reported revenue and the number of patients treated.
We aim to further expand this position in the years ahead. Our
products and health care services are at the core of our strat-
eqgy. To support the implementation of Strategy 2025, 2022 will
be a transition year, in which the new operating model with two
future global segments, Care Enablement and Care Delivery,
will be gradually introduced. We expect the rollout of the new
global operating model, with a more centralized approach, to
be completed in 2023. To take it to the next level until 2025, we
will concentrate on three key areas: the renal care continuum,
critical care solutions, and complementary assets. Aspects of
the renal care continuum include new renal care models, val-
ue-based care, chronic kidney disease and transplantation, and
future innovations. Over the next few years, we will use our
competence in the critical care business to address a variety of
health challenges and continue to leverage our core competen-
cies through partnerships, investments, and acquisitions. This
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approach constitutes our commitment to long-term sustain-
able development and growth.

SECTOR-SPECIFIC
ENVIRONMENT - DIALYSIS
MARKET

The Company expects the number of dialysis patients world-
wide to grow by about 5 % in 2022 depending on the further
development of the global COVID-19 pandemic. The accelerat-
ing effects of excess mortality due to the COVID-19 pandemic
are continuing into 2022. The further development signifi-
cantly depends on the adoption and speed of the roll out of
vaccinations to our worldwide patient population. Fresenius
Medical Care expects to have a significant adverse annualiza-
tion effect on treatment volumes. Some significant regional dif-
ferences are likely to remain: The Company anticipates below
average growth rates in the U.S., Japan and Western and Cen-
tral Europe. The number of patients with chronic kidney dis-
ease is already relatively high in these countries and regions
and patients generally have reliable access to treatment, nor-
mally dialysis. In economically weaker regions we expect the
growth rates partly to be considerably higher. We expect
patient numbers to continue growing in the coming years - SEE
TABLE 2.38.

Our growth strategy is based on an in-depth analysis of the
major trends affecting Fresenius Medical Care:

> Demographic factors: Demographic factors are one of the
main reasons for the continued growth of dialysis markets.
As average life expectancy rises worldwide, the share of
older people in the population is also growing. However, kid-
ney function deteriorates with age. Therefore, demographic
change is an important indicator for the future number of
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T2.38 EXPECTED GROWTH IN PATIENT NUMBERS

Growth 2022

North America Segment ~2 %
EMEA Segment ~3 %
Asia-Pacific Segment ~7 %
Latin America Segment ~3%
WORLDWIDE ~5%

Source: Internal estimates.

dialysis patients, which is expected to increase from around
3.8 M worldwide in 2021 to over 61 M in 2030.

Increase in lifestyle diseases: Diseases such as high blood
pressure and diabetes are on the rise around the world. They
can cause damage to the entire organism and also often
impair kidney function in the long-term.

Improved access to medical care: Thanks to ongoing efforts
to establish and expand balanced and sustainable health
care systems in many countries around the globe, a growing
number of patients are gaining access to suitable dialysis
treatments for the first time. We expect this trend to con-
tinue and drive demand for high-quality products and treat-
ments.

Changes in the health care industry: The health care indus-
try is constantly changing. We believe that demand for the
holistic care of chronic patients will continue to rise. In
future, the focus when treating kidney patients will no lon-
ger be simply on offering individual dialysis products or ser-
vices, but also on combining all fields of application related
to dialysis and coordinating them more effectively.

v

~

v

Hemodialysis will remain the treatment of choice, accounting
for 88 % to 89 % of all dialysis therapies. Peritoneal dialysis
will continue to be the preferred treatment for 11 % to 12 % of
all dialysis patients.
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The volume of the worldwide dialysis market last year was
influenced by the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic and exchange
rate effects and amounted to about €79 BN according to pre-
liminary estimates. Going forward, we expect an increase of 1 %
to 4 % per year. This is based on the assumption that exchange
rates will remain stable in the forecasting period. The overall
volume of the dialysis market could thus reach around €80 BN
to €82 BN by 2022.

In addition, the reimbursement and ancillary services utiliza-
tion environment significantly influences our business. In the
U.S., our biggest sales market, the reimbursements of govern-
mental institutions are lower than the reimbursements of pri-
vate insurers. Therefore, a change in the portion of reimburse-
ments by private insurers in the U.S. influences our business.
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KEY PERFORMANCE
INDICATORS DEVELOPMENT
OF FRESENIUS MEDICAL CARE
IN 2022

Fresenius Medical Care's outlook for 2022 is at Constant
Exchange Rates and excludes Special Items. Special items
include further costs related to the FME25 Program and
other effects that are unusual in nature and have not been
foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of
giving guidance. These targets are based on the following
assumptions:

> COVID-19-related accumulated excess mortality to impact
operating income by €100 M compared to the level of 2021.

> COVID-19-related staff shortages are anticipated not to
cause significant disruptions in production, distribution and
dialysis operations.

» Macro-economic inflation and supply chain costs to impact
operating income by €50 M.

» Labor costs for 2022 are expected to be around €100 M in
excess of the 3 % base wage inflation assumption.

> Any potential further government support is assumed to be
applied to manage the unprecedented labor market situa-
tion if costs exceed the above labor costs assumption.

» FME25 savings are expected to contribute €40 M to E70 M
to operating income.

> Remeasurement effects on the fair value of investments are
expected to be volatile but neutral on a full year basis.
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The growth rates are based on the results in 2021 excluding
the costs related to the FME25 Program. For a reconciliation
of the results 2021 to the results 2021 excluding the costs
related to the FME25 Program as a basis for the targets 2022,
SEE TABLE 2.40 ON PAGE 60.

Revenue

We expect revenue to increase at a low-to-mid-single-digit
percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2022.

Revenue growth

We expect revenue to increase at a low-to-mid-single-digit
percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2022.

Result of Operations
Operating income

We expect operating income to increase at a low-to-mid-single-
digit percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2022. This
increase for 2022 is based on operating income in 2021 exclud-
ing the costs related to the FME25 Program.

Net income

We expect net income (net income attributable to shareholders
of FMC AG & Co. KGaA) to increase at a low-to-mid-single-digit
percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2022. This
increase is based on net income in 2021 excluding the costs
related to the FME25 Program.
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Net income growth

We expect net income (net income attributable to shareholders
of FMC AG & Co. KGaA) to increase at a low-to-mid-single-digit
percentage rate at Constant Exchange Rates in 2022. This
increase is based on net income in 2021 excluding the costs
related to the FME25 Program.

Profitability

We expect ROIC excluding Special Items to be at least 5.0 % in
2022 compared to 51% excluding the costs related to the
FME25 Program in 2021.

Dividend

Regarding our dividend policy, we will propose a dividend that
focuses on the continuity of historical payments as we believe
that the fundamental drivers of our business and growth
remain unchanged, despite the unprecedented but temporary
effects of the COVID-19 pandemic.

The expected developments might be influenced by develop-
ments described in the risks and opportunities report.

Our outlook for the financial year 2022 is summarized in
TABLE 2.39.
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T 2.39 OUTLOOK PRIMARY KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 2022

Results 2021

Outlook 2022
(at Constant Currency, except for ROIC)

Revenue' €17,619 M

growth: low to mid single digit percentage rate

Revenue growth at Constant Currency' -

growth: low to mid single digit percentage rate

Operating income' €1915 M

growth: low to mid single digit percentage rate

Net income™? €1,018 M

growth: low to mid single digit percentage rate

Net income growth at Constant Currency'? -

growth: low to mid single digit percentage rate

ROIC"3 51%

5.0 %

' Outlook 2022 is based on the assumptions outlined above and excludes Special Items. Special items include further costs related to the FME25 Program and other effects that are unusual in nature
and have not been foreseeable or not foreseeable in size or impact at the time of giving guidance. The growth rates are based on the results 2021 excluding the costs related to the FME25 Program.
For a reconciliation of results 2021 to results 2021 excl. the costs related to the FME25 Program as a basis for targets 2022, SEE TABLE 2.40. For further information on Constant Currency, see

section “Performance management system” in the chapter “Overview of the Group” starting on PAGE 24.
2 Net income attributable to shareholders of FMC AG & Co. KGaA.

T 2.40 RECONCILIATION OF RESULTS 2021 TO RESULTS 2021 EXCL. THE COSTS RELATED TO THE FME25 PROGRAM

AS A BASIS FOR TARGETS 2022

INEM
Results 2021 FME25 Program Results 2021 excl. Special items
Revenue 17,619 - 17,619
Operating income 1,852 63 1,915
Net income' 969 49 1,018

" Net income attributable to shareholders of Fresenius Medical Care AG & Co. KGaA.
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FINANCIAL TARGETS:
2020 - 2025

As part of the 2025 strategy, Fresenius Medical Care is aiming
for the growth rates over the next years in CHART 2.41.

c2.41 OUR FINANCIAL TARGETS: GUIDANCE 2020-2025"

REVENUE GROWTH CAGR

MID

//\/’ SINGLE DIGIT

NET INCOME GROWTH CAGR
./ HIGH
<7

SINGLE DIGIT
T at constant currency excluding special items

Based on current projections, Fresenius Medical Care confirms
its mid-term targets that are based on the Company's mid-term
strategy. Until 2025 the Company expects compounded annual
average increases in the mid-single-digit percentage range for
revenue and in the high-single-digit percentage range for net
income. Fresenius Medical Care expects FME25 savings to miti-
gate the ongoing negative effects of COVID-19.
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FME25: TRANSFORMING
GLOBAL OPERATING MODEL TO
STRENGTHEN PROFITABILITY

As part of the FME25 Program launched in 2021, Fresenius
Medical Care has announced on November 2, 2021, a new oper-
ating model that will be launched in 2023.The objective is to
better capture identified growth opportunities, thereby gener-
ating additional value, enhance capital allocation, further
exploit the advantages of the Company’s vertical integration,
increase transparency both internally and externally, reduce
the administrative burden in terms of cost and speed, and pro-
mote a culture of agility, innovation and accountability. The
Company is significantly streamlining its operating model to
create two global segments - Care Delivery and Care Enable-
ment along the relevant future value drivers taking a more cen-
tralized approach.

Until 2025 we plan to invest up to €500 M in our FME25 pro-
gram to sustainably reduce the cost base. We expect for each
euro invested in FME25 to sustainably reduce the annual cost
and minimally improve operating income by the same amount
by 2025.

On December 1, 2021, we announced that these changes in
structure will result in changed responsibilities, starting at
Management Board level. The new Management Board has
taken effect on January 1, 2022.
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MANAGEMENT'S GENERAL
ASSESSMENT

Despite the ongoing impact of the pandemic and an increas-
ingly inflationary cost environment, we target to return to earn-
ings growth in 2022. At the same time, we will continue to exe-
cute on the key priorities of our Strategy 2025, advancing on
our transformational FME25 program as well as progressing on
our Sustainability agenda.

Based on its Strategy 2025, Fresenius Medical Care aims to
capture further growth potential along the Renal Care Contin-
uum and beyond - by leveraging its core competencies and
offering sustainable solutions with innovative products and
services of the highest quality and at reliable costs. To this end,
the Company is continuing to steadily drive forward its strate-
gic priorities.
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RISKS AND
OPPORTUNITIES
REPORT

As a company with global operations, we are
naturally exposed to risks associated with our
business activities. Ultimately, we can leverage
opportunities for our business only if we are
willing to take certain risks. Based on our many
years of experience and our extensive knowledge
of the markets, we are able to identify and assess
risks and opportunities for our business.

RISK AND OPPORTUNITY
MANAGEMENT

We see risk management as the ongoing task of determining,
analyzing and evaluating the spectrum of actual and potential
risks arising from our business operations in our environment
and, where possible, taking pre-emptive and corrective mea-
sures. Our risk management system provides us with a basis for
these activities. It enables management to identify risks that
could jeopardize our growth or going concern and to take steps
to minimize any negative impact. Accordingly, it is an important
component of our management and governance.

In addition, we ensure our long-term success by actively man-
aging opportunities. The aim here is to identify and assess
opportunities as early as possible, and initiate appropriate
measures so that opportunities can be turned into business
success for Fresenius Medical Care. Long-term and mid-term
opportunities are taken into account in our strategy and bud-
get planning. We exploit opportunities that can be implemented
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at short notice as part of ongoing business operations, pro-
vided this is meaningful and in line with our business targets.

RISK MANAGEMENT
Risk management system

The main objective of the risk management system is to iden-
tify potential risks as early as possible to assess their impact on
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business activities and enable us, where necessary, to take
appropriate countermeasures. Due to constantly changing
external as well as internal requirements and conditions, our
risk management system is continuously evolving. In the past
financial year, the completeness and validity of risk information
within our risk management approach as well as its effective-
ness was strengthened by an enhancement of the effective-
ness review of countermeasures as well as by the application of
a newly defined concept for the analysis of our risk-bearing
capacity and our aggregated risk position. This was comple-

c2.42 RISK REPORTING
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mented by the definition of our risk appetite in an internal
guideline, which reflects the respective risk tolerance levels for
our individual business activities.

The organizational structure of our risk management as well as
the previously described processes are shown in CHART 2.42 ON
PAGE 62.

The structure of the internal risk management system is based
on the internationally recognized framework for company-wide
risk management, the "Enterprise Risk Management - Inte-
grated Framework" of the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Opportunities are
not covered by the implemented risk management system.

As part of the risk management system, regional risk coordina-
tors, utilizing risk management software, assume the task of
coordinating risk management activities within our operating
segments, in particular the risk identification and assessment
with individual risk owners by means of, among other things,
workshops, interviews and queries. These activities relate to
existing and potential emerging short-term as well as mid-term
risks. Semi-annually, identified risk information is processed by
the risk coordinators, reviewed by the respective corporate
functions and discussed in regional/functional risk commit-
tees. Subsequently, the central risk management function
gathers the risks and risk responses from regions and func-
tions, analyses and discusses them in the corporate risk com-
mittee and communicates the compiled results to the Manage-
ment Board. The analysis of the risk environment also includes
determining the degree of a potential threat to the company's
going concern by aggregating all risks with the aid of a soft-
ware-supported risk simulation.

The Management Board and the central risk management are
promptly informed of new risks that are estimated to be high
or develop into high risks in order to ensure appropriate
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responses (Information regarding the classification of risks as
"high"”, "medium” and “low" can be derived from the risk
matrix depicted in the section “Risks" in this chapter). The
effectiveness of the risk management system is monitored by
the Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the Super-
visory Board.

In addition to risk reporting, standard reporting to manage-
ment is an important tool for managing and controlling risks, as
well as for taking preventive measures in a timely manner.
Therefore, our Management Board is informed on a monthly
basis about the industry situation, our operating and non-oper-
ating business, and the outcome of analyses of our earnings
and financial position, as well as of the assets position on a
quarterly basis.

The Global Internal Audit department is regularly informed
about the results of the risk management system. This depart-
ment determines risk focus areas and audits a selected num-
ber of our departments, subsidiaries and IT applications world-
wide each year. Determined risk focus areas are audited across
all business segments. The department works according to the
internationally accepted standards of the Institute of Internal
Auditors (I1A), which was confirmed by a quality assessment in
2017. The next quality assessment is planned for 2022. The
scope of internal auditing is widespread and involves, among
other activities, periodic assessment of the effectiveness of
controls (including legal compliance controls) over business
processes, IT security, the reliability of financial reporting and
compliance with accounting regulations and internal policies.
Since 2021 Global Internal Audit is also conducting third-party
audits of selected sales intermediaries in order to give assur-
ance that business transactions with Fresenius Medical Care
products are in accordance with applicable compliance stan-
dards. Our locations and units to be audited are determined
annually on the basis of a selection model taking various risks
into consideration. This annual audit plan is reviewed and
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approved by the Management Board and the Audit and Corpo-
rate Governance Committee of the Supervisory Board. All
audit reports with material observations are presented to the
Management Board. The Global Internal Audit department is
also responsible for monitoring the implementation of mea-
sures mitigating identified deficiencies. The Management
Board is informed about the mitigation status on a quarterly
basis. The Audit and Corporate Governance Committee of the
Supervisory Board is also informed of the audit results. Due to
COVID-19, the Global Internal Audit department suspended
on-site audits from March 2020 onwards and conducted all
audits remotely. In 2021 a total of 41 audits and 25 sales inter-
mediary audits were carried out. Risk focus areas were compli-
ance and cybersecurity.

Nevertheless, it is important to note that a functioning and
adequate risk management system cannot guarantee that all
risks are fully identified and controlled.

Internal control and risk management
system for the Group's accounting process

Our internal control system over financial reporting is designed
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of the Company's finan-
cial statements for external reporting purposes in accordance
with IFRS as issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU Com-
mission. Our internal reporting process is designed for the reli-
able recording, processing and control of financial data and key
figures. Figures and data are compared and discussed regularly
on a monthly and quarterly basis with the previous year’s val-
ues, budget targets and the latest projections. In addition, the
Management Board and the departments responsible for pre-
paring the financial statements discuss all parameters, assump-
tions and estimates that substantially affect the externally
reported consolidated and segment results. The Audit and Cor-
porate Governance Committee of the Supervisory Board also
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reviews current quarterly results and compares them with bud-
gets and projections.

The internal control system contains guidelines and instruc-
tions designed for the appropriate and accurate recording and
presentation of Company transactions.

Further control mechanisms aimed at achieving reliable finan-
cial reporting and correct recording of transactions within the
accounting and the consolidation process include automated
and manual reconciliations, as well as the separation of certain
personnel functions to prevent potential conflicts of interest.
Furthermore, several preventive approval steps as well as
detective plausibility checks are in place in various core finance
and finance-related processes to ensure correct financial
reporting. All process owners identify and assess the risks of
their respective processes in terms of the implications for
accounting and financial reporting. These process owners also
determine that corresponding controls are in place to minimize
these risks. Changes to accounting standards are discussed on
an ongoing basis and considered in the preparation of the
financial statements. Employees responsible for financial
reporting are provided with regular training regarding changes
in accounting standards. The consolidation is performed cen-
trally by the department which is responsible for the group
accounting. The basis for the consolidation is derived from
reporting packages and sub-group consolidated financial state-
ments prepared and submitted by local group entities. The
preparation of reporting packages and sub-group consolidated
financial statements is performed according to central require-
ments and guidelines.

As we are also listed on the New York Stock Exchange, it is
required to adhere to the requirements of the U.S. Sar-
banes-Oxley Act (SOX). Section 404 of this federal law stipu-
lates that management of companies listed in the U.S. are
responsible for implementing and adhering to an effective
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internal control system to produce reliable financial reporting.
A yearly scoping takes place to determine entities, processes
and controls which are subject to SOX requirements. The
design and operating effectiveness of the internal control sys-
tem over financial reporting are routinely tested and consid-
ered in reqular internal audits. Control testing results are
being reqularly discussed with the respective stakeholders
and remediation of control deficiencies is closely monitored.
These criteria are also included in the annual audit by our
independent registered public accounting firm. A quarterly
certification process has been implemented as a formal
accountability and responsibility mechanism for countries,
regions, shared services centers as well as corporate entities
which aims at the accuracy of financial reporting and the asso-
ciated disclosure controls and procedures.

The internal control system over financial reporting follows the
criteria of the COSO model, Internal Control - Integrated Frame-
work (2013), which was developed by the Committee of Spon-
soring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and is rec-
ognized as a standard by the Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC). In accordance with the COSO model, the
internal control system over financial reporting is divided into
five components: control environment, risk assessment, con-
trol activities, information and communication, as well as the
monitoring of the internal control system. Each of these com-
ponents is regularly documented, tested and assessed. We
aligned our internal controls to fulfill the requirements of the
COSO model.

Our review of the internal control system over financial report-
ing complies with a specific SEC guideline (Guidance Regarding
Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting) and is conducted with software support. Initially,
regional internal control teams coordinate the assessment of
the controls in each region, after which the results are consoli-
dated for the whole Group. Based upon this assessment, man-
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agement evaluates the effectiveness of the internal control
system for the current fiscal year. External advisers are con-
sulted as needed. A corporate steering committee meets sev-
eral times a year to review regulatory developments and
changes of relevant internal control requirements, to discuss
possible control deficiencies, and derive further measures. In
addition, in its meetings, the Audit and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Supervisory Board is informed regularly of
the results of management'’s assessment.

As of December 31, 2021, management assessed our internal
control system over financial reporting and determined that
our internal control over financial reporting is effective.

Internal control systems over financial reporting are subject to
inherent limitations, irrespective of how carefully these sys-
tems are designed. As a result, there is no absolute assurance
that financial reporting objectives can be met, nor that mis-
statements will always be prevented or detected.

Risks

The following section describes significant risks which could
have an impact on our business operations. In the course of
the risk assessment an estimation of the risks takes place
regarding the likelihood of occurrence and the potential
impact in the respective assessment period, allowing a priori-
tization of the risks into the classifications “low” “medium”
and “high"”. Besides quantitative factors, qualitative factors
are also applied when assessing the potential impact of a risk.
For the identification of strategic developments, besides the
short-term consideration (one year), risks can also be assessed
in terms of a mid-term effect within five years.

The scales for classification of potential impact and likelihood
as well as the localization of the risks within the risk matrix are
depicted in CHART 2.43 ON PAGE 65. The above depicted risk
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areas as well as mitigating measures within these areas are
described in the following section.

Sector-specific risks
Regulatory environment, product quality

Our operations in both health care services business and prod-
ucts business are subject to extensive governmental regulation
in virtually every country in which we operate. We are also sub-
ject to other laws of general applicability, including anti-trust
laws. The applicable reqgulations, which differ from country to
country, cover areas that include:

> the quality, safety and efficacy of medical and pharmaceuti-
cal products and supplies;

> regulatory approvals and oversight of clinical and certain
non-clinical research and development activities;

> product approvals and reqgulatory approvals for new prod-
ucts or product improvements;

> the operation and licensure of manufacturing facilities, labo-
ratories, dialysis clinics, ambulatory surgery centers and
other health care facilities;

» audits and reviews by enforcement authorities, including the
Food and Drug Administration (FDA), for compliance with
applicable drug regulations;

» product labeling, advertising and other promotion;

» accurate reporting and billing for government and third-
party reimbursement including accurate and complete med-
ical records to support such billing;

> the discounting of reimbursed drug and medical device
products and the reporting of drug prices to government
authorities;

> limits on our ability to make acquisitions or certain invest-
ments and the terms of those transactions;
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c2.43 RISKS WITH POTENTIAL SHORT-TERM EFFECT (ONE YEAR) AND MID-TERM EFFECT (FIVE YEARS)

13,19, 23

- 6’ 8’ -

1,2, 4, 3,12, 17, 4,10, 12,
6, 21,22 20, 24
5,16 9 21 2,11,19, 22
RISK AREA
1 Regulatory environment 13 Personnel
2 Quality 14 Corruption and Fraud
3 U.S. federal health care programs 15 Information systems and business processes
4 Composition of our customer base 16 Liquidity and financing
5 Reimbursement by private insurers 17 Currencies and interests
6 Health care reforms 18 Litigation and potential exposures
7 Growth 19 Taxes
8 Competitors 20 Global operations
9 Research and development 21 Unpredictable events
10 Intellectual Property 22 Global economic conditions and disruptions in financial markets
11 Referral practices 23 COoVID-19
12 Procurement 24 ESG requirements
low risk s medium risk s high risk

' Likelihood: unlikely: O to 10 %, possible: > 10 to 50 %, likely: > 50 to 90 %, almost certain: > 90 to 100 %.
2 Potential impact: low: small negative impact, medium: moderate negative impact, major: significant negative impact,
severe: material negative impact.
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» the collection, dissemination, access, use, security and pri-
vacy of protected health information and other protected
data;

> compliance with due diligence, warranty obligations and
product liability rules; and

» compensation of medical directors and other financial
arrangements with physicians and other referral sources.

In addition to the risks from non-compliance with the regula-
tory environment, as a manufacturing company we face the
risk that products, as a result of unsuitable product designs or
issues in the production process, do not fulfill our standards of
quality and could lead to the possibility of not achieving
expected treatment results which may result in product recalls
that might lead to significant adverse financial results or repu-
tational damage.

If we fail to comply with one or more of these laws or regula-
tions or incur a quality incident, this may give rise to a number
of adverse legal and financial consequences. These include, in
particular, loss or suspension of governmental certifications,
loss or suspension of licenses under the laws of governmental
authority from which we generate substantial revenues, mon-
etary and administrative penalties, recall actions and claims
for damages, increased costs for compliance with government
orders, complete or partial exclusion from government reim-
bursement programs, refunds of payments received from gov-
ernment payors and government health care program benefi-
ciaries due to any failures to meet applicable requirements or
complete or partial curtailment of our authority to conduct
business. In the end, these types of risks may no longer be
insurable. Including the considerable costs of legal defense, all
the consequences mentioned above could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
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A number of the health care businesses in the U.S., that the
Company operates, is owned or managed by entities in which
one or more hospitals, physicians or physician practice groups
hold an interest. We also have arrangements with physician
practices to collaborate on our value and risk-based care pro-
grams with public and private payors. While the Company has
structured its arrangements with physicians to comply with
many of the criteria for safe harbor protection and waivers
under the federal and state Anti-Kickback Statutes as well as
other state fraud and abuse laws, its arrangements do not sat-
isfy all elements of such safe harbor. If one or more of our
arrangements, including value and risk-based care programs,
were found to be in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute, the
Stark Law or analogous state laws, we could be required to
restructure or terminate them. We also could be required to
repay to Medicare, Medicaid as well as other federal health care
program amounts pursuant to any prohibited referrals, and we
could be subject to monetary penalties and exclusion from fed-
eral and state health care programs. Imposition of any of these
penalties could have a material adverse impact on our busi-
ness, results of operations and financial condition.

Compliance programs implemented in the regions reduce the
risk of legal violations by providing general and specific rules of
conduct and procedures as well as regular training of the
employees according to the relevant specifications. To ensure
that our products and services comply with the quality require-
ments, we implemented quality management systems in the
different regions. The employees have access to procedures
and work instructions to ensure that the applicable quality
requirements are met. In addition, we conduct internal reviews
of the production sites and clinics to monitor compliance with
quality standards of our products and services. Reqgulatory ini-
tiatives and changes are closely monitored in order to quickly
adapt to new reqgulations.
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U.S. federal health care programs

As stated in the report in section “Macroeconomic and sec-
tor-specific environment” in the chapter “Economic Report”
starting on PAGE 38, our dialysis clinics in the US participate i